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Dear Valued Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Bank of Sharjah, I would like to welcome you all to the 47th General Assembly which this year 
is unfortunately being held under preventive measures and rules associated with the spread of the Covid-19 epidemic.

In spite of the exceptional circumstances we are going through at the national and global levels, allow me to convey to you our 
profound appreciation for your continued support and confidence, which is the main beacon of strength to overcome all challenges.

I take this opportunity to extend on your behalf and on behalf of the Directors, our sincere appreciation and respect to H.H. Sheikh  
Khalifa bin Zayed Al Nahyan, President of UAE and Ruler of Abu Dhabi, H.H. Sheikh Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum, Vice 
President and Prime Minister of UAE and Ruler of Dubai, & H.H Sheikh Mohammed bin Zayed Al Nahyan, Crown Prince of Abu Dhabi 
and Deputy Supreme Commander of the Armed Forces, H.H. Dr. Sheikh Sultan bin Mohammed Al Qasimi, Dr. Sheikh Sultan bin 
Mohammed Al Qasimi, Ruler of Sharjah, & Their Highnesses the Rulers Members of the Supreme Council for their wisdom in leading 
our country towards prosperity and development especially during such challenging times.

The year 2019 was a busy year on the world stage, marked by a series of historical summits, crises and popular protests, a year that 
ended with the emergence of the Covid-19 epidemic that changed our lifestyle, business and economic plans in an unprecedented 
way and for an undefined period.

At the regional level, we witnessed an increase in geo-political tensions, a decrease in economic activity and the surge of more 
regulatory restrictions. 

In the United Arab Emirates, the year 2019 was a milestone for more than one reason. It made the Year of Tolerance a global 
phenomenon, and it entered the Space Club by sending the first Arab astronaut to the international station, steps that made it 
join the club of advanced nations on a global stage.

As for Bank of Sharjah, it was an unusual year, during which we bid farewell to the Chairman of the Board of Directors, late Mr. Ahmed 
Abdalla Al Noman, who led the Bank over thirty years with wisdom and foresight leaving for us a great legacy and a clear path to follow. 

Over its 46-year history, the Bank has reported profits. However, in respect of the Bank’s financial results for the year 2019, it is 
essential to highlight that although the Bank’s profits for UAE operations increased by 25%, from AED 130 million to AED 163 million, 
the exceptional situation in Lebanon imposed on us a non-cash and unrealized provisions that triggered loss of AED 488 million.

On behalf of the Board of Directors and in your name, I would like to extend to His Highness Sheikh Dr. Sultan Bin Mohammed 
Al Qasimi, Member of the Supreme Council and Ruler of Sharjah, our Honorary Chairman, our sincere gratitude and thanks for his 
continuous guidance and support. 

I would also like to thank all our clients and correspondents around the world, the monetary authorities and in particular, the UAE 
Central Bank, the Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA) and the Abu Dhabi Stock Exchange Market (ADX) for their trust in 
our organization.

A very special word of appreciation and assurance of the Board’s support to the Bank's management and staff for their tireless 
efforts and dedication, despite the peculiar working environment.

Finally, I have the honour to present to you the Board of Directors report for 2019.

MOHAMMED BIN SAUD AL QASIMI
Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S SPEECH
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2019 has been a busy year on the world scene. A seemingly unending parade of summits, crises, and protests closing on the 
unanticipated emergence of an unknown contagious virus that originated from China and identified as Covid-19. Some of these 
events will continue into 2020 in many unpredictable ways. 

In 2019, The U.S.-China Trade War Continued whereby both parties-imposed rounds of tariffs on goods amounting to billions of 
dollars. On 11 October 2019 they reached a tentative agreement on a “Phase 1” deal. Both sides claimed victory. However, the 
agreement failed to settle the major differences between the two economic superpowers.

On 30 June 2019 President Donald Trump became the first sitting U.S. President to set foot in North Korea, in the Demilitarized 
Zone four months after meeting his North Korean counterpart Kim Jong-un in Hanoi. As 2019 ended, no progress had been made 
in containing, let alone dismantling, North Korea’s nuclear weapons programme. 

In the USA, on 24 September 2019 a formal impeachment probe against President Donald Trump was launched on obstruction-
of-justice charges, and use of the power of his office. On 18 December, the House voted to approve two articles of impeachment. 
As 2019 ended, it was unclear if the Senate will charge the President. 

Following significant market stress in the fourth quarter of 2018, 2019 brought welcome respite to many international equity 
and credit markets, rallying from the December 2018 lows to end the 2019 year at record highs, supported by a U-turn in US 
Federal Reserve interest rate policy, cut three times by a total of 75 basis points in the second half of 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT  
TO THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY  
FOR THE YEAR 2019

US FEDERAL RESERVE OVERNIGHT FED FUNDS RATE

THE CENTRAL BANK OF THE UAE (CBUAE) MATCHED THE US REDUCTIONS

Geopolitical risks spiked over the summer months as Iran responded to increasing US economic pressure with attacks on oil tankers 
in the Arabian Sea and with cruise missile strikes on Saudi Arabian oil production facilities. Despite this backdrop, at year end 2019, 
in particular the optimism of equity markets, remained undiminished, buoyed by a series of interest rate cuts. 
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EURO/US DOLLAR EXCHANGE RATE JAPANESE YEN/US DOLLAR EXCHANGE RATE

The DJIA rallied 26% from the January lows to end the year at record highs. This performance was echoed by other international 
equity markets.

DOW JONES INDUSTRIAL AVERAGE (DJIA) NASDAQ COMPOSITE INDEX

S&P 500 INDEX EUROSTOXX 50

The US Dollar strengthened generally throughout the year on stronger US economic growth relative to other economies, in spite 
of the Fed’s rate cuts, before settling into a trading range in the fourth quarter.

Gold rallied sharply in the second half of 2019 and benefitted from increased geopolitical tensions, finishing the year above the 
$1,500 mark.

10 YEAR US TREASURY YIELDS
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The United Kingdom ended 2019 with clarity about Brexit, but it took a turbulent journey to get there. Prime Minister Theresa May 
resigned after the House of Commons voted down her deal three times. Boris Johnson became prime minister on 24 July 2019. On 
20 December 2019 Parliament voted overwhelmingly to exit the EU by 31 January 2020.

Sterling was volatile throughout the year on the ebbs and flows of the Brexit dramas, before rallying in Q4 in response to the 
election of Boris Johnson as Prime Minister, and increasing confidence that the Brexit stalemate could be broken.

US DOLLAR/STERLING EXCHANGE RATE

Regionally, the so called ‘Deal of the Century’ promised by President Trump to settle the Arab Israeli conflict was rejected by the 
Arab League. 

Turkey in confirmation of its Ottoman ambitions entered into the Libyan conflict militarily and through mercenaries creating 
a new territorial waters fait accompli by signing an agreement with the UN backed Government and securing, controversial oil 
exploration rights in the Mediterranean and contracts for the reconstruction of Libya. Iran began in May 2019 its gradual step 
back from the multilateral nuclear accord in response to the US withdrawal and new sanctions. 

In 2019 war in the Arabian Gulf seemed imminent on several occasions as hostilities between Iran and the U.S escalated sharply. 

In May 2019, four commercial ships were attacked while anchored just outside the Strait of Hormuz.

On 6 June 2019 Houthi rebels shot down a U.S. drone in Yemen with help from Iran. 

Two weeks later, Iran shot down a U.S. drone it said had violated Iranian airspace, a charge the United States denied.

On 18 July 2019 a U.S. Navy ship in the Strait of Hormuz destroyed an Iranian drone. 

On 14 September 2019 drones and cruise missiles struck two major Saudi “Aramco” oil refineries, temporarily knocking off half the 
country’s oil production.

The oil price rallied in the first half of 2019 to the $75, in response to supply cuts by OPEC, and strong US economic performance. 
However, the US/China trade dispute, slowing economic growth in China and Europe, and increasing uncertainty with respect to 
future demand, brought the price back into the $60 to $66 range for the second half of the year.

GOLD
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BRENT CRUDE OIL

SAUDI ARABIA TADAWUL ALL SHARE INDEX

It is an open conflict between the West with the active support of Israel, KSA and UAE against Iran with a tacit and complicit 
silence of Russia.

Moreover, the countries reeling from the presence or influence of Iran like Iraq and Lebanon witnessed massive protests against the 
Iranian meddling.

In Iraq, since the beginning of October 2019 a wave of popular demonstrations have been suppressed by the security forces as 
demonstrators, have publicly rejected the Iranian hegemony. The two-month demonstrations led to the fall of the government of 
prime Minister AbdelHadi Mahdi on 2 December 2019.

In Lebanon, on 17 October 2019 a proposed tax on WhatsApp unleashed a flood of anger that resulted in the fallout of PM Saad 
Hariri Government on 29 October 2019 unveiling one of the most critical economic and financial crisis in the country since the 
end of civil war, jeopardizing its pioneer Banking sector. 

With the Yemen war taking a turn towards a peace process the geopolitical risk started to recede specially that some early signs 
to bring Qatar back into the GCC were attempted.

The UAE announced on 8 July 2019 its military withdrawal from the Yemen war effort converting its presence into humanitarian 
assistance. 

Financially, the region witnessed a general downturn in activity and asset quality deterioration, an important exodus by expatriate 
workforce and more and more constraining regulatory directives especially after the attack on Aramco in September 2019.

The Saudi Arabian market saw the launch IPO of Aramco in December. Interestingly for other equities in the index, and the region, 
the index sold off in advance of the IPO as investors sold other stocks to generate cash for the Aramco issue.

In the UAE, 2019 stands out as a watershed year for more reasons than one. From making its Year of Tolerance a global phenomenon 
to sending its first man to space, the UAE catapulted itself into a different league on the world stage.

Sh. Khalifa Bin Zayed Al Nahyan was re-elected as President of the UAE for a fourth term.
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2019 marked the Year of Tolerance in the UAE through the 
signing of the ‘Human Fraternity Document,’ the Papal visit and 
mass held by Pope Francis on 5 February attended by more 
than 180,000 people in Abu Dhabi, the hosting of the World 
Tolerance Summit and other initiatives. 

On 25 September 2019 Emirati astronaut Hazza Al Mansoori 
made history for his country when he travelled to the Inter- 
national Space Station, (ISS) becoming the first Arab astronaut 
to reach the station since its establishment in 1998. 

The UAE is one of the most advanced digital economies in the 
world, landing in the top 20 globally and first in the Arab world 
as announced in the IMD World Digital Competitiveness Ranking 
Report 2019. It has achieved the first rank in the Arab Region 
in all three main factors of the report, namely the “technology” 
factor, “Future Readiness” and in the “knowledge” factor.

The UAE continued its progress in global competitiveness 
reports for 2019, as it confirmed its leadership at the Arab  
level and occupied the first position, according to the Global  
Competitiveness Report 2019 which evaluates the competi-
tiveness of 141 countries. The UAE came among the top five 
countries in 19 global indicators.

The UAE continued advancing its legislative infrastructure and 
issued many decrees, federal laws and ministerial decisions, with 
the aim of ensuring the community’s safety and security.

2019 witnessed the adoption of UAE President’s Resolution No. 
01 for 2019 to raise the participation of women to 50 per cent in 
the FNC which was reflected in the results of the elections held on 
5 October 2019. The election recorded an increase in the number 
of members of electoral bodies reaching over 337,000 voters.

The UAE's largest Federal Budget since its establishment 
totalling Dh61.354 billion for 2020 was approved without deficit. 
A third being allocated to the social development sector, another 
third to government affairs, and the rest to infrastructure, 
economic resources and living benefits.

One of the great achievements in the financial sector during 
2019 was the significant increase in the assets of the UAE 
banking system after it jumped above the 3 trillion-dirham 

barrier, which strengthened its position and maintained the first 
position at the level of the Arab Gulf region and the Middle East.

In November 2019, the UAE announced the discovery of 7 billion 
barrels of oil. This raised the crude reserves of the country to 
105 billion barrels making it the sixth largest in the world. In 
addition to the discovery of 58 trillion cubic feet of gas. This puts 
the total reserves of natural gas of UAE to 273 trillion cubic feet 
conventional gas and 160 trillion cubic feet unconventional gas.

In 2019, Dubai unveiled a new gold card system for permanent 
visa-holding residents in Dubai. Around 6,800 people have been 
granted permanent residency and gold card status.

In 2019, on the cultural level, the UAE obtained a permanent 
seat on the Council of the International Center for the Study 
of the Preservation and Restoration of Cultural Property 
"ICCROM", and the nomination of the Emirate of Sharjah as the 
World Book Capital.

The 29th Abu Dhabi International Book Fair attracted over 1,000 
exhibitors from 50 countries, showcasing over 500,000 books.

In Sharjah, the 38th Sharjah International Book Fair, which 
continued to enhance its stature as one of the top three book fairs 
in the world, received around 2.52 million visitors in 2019, with 
the participation of 2,000 publishing houses from 81 countries.

H.H. Sheikh Dr. Sultan bin Muhammad Al Qasimi, Supreme Council 
Member and Ruler of Sharjah, has issued an Emiri Decree on the 
establishment of the Khalid bin Sultan Al Qasimi Humanitarian 
Foundation to commemorate the memory of his son the late 
Sheikh Khalid Bin Sultan bin Mohammed Al Qasimi and achieving 
his vision and aspirations in the service of humanitarian work. 

H.H. has issued directives for the launch of the “Sultan Al 
Qasimi Emiratisation Project”, which aims to provide Emiratis 
with job opportunities in the private sector. 

H.H. has issued an administrative Law on the regulation list of The 
Sharjah Private Education Authority (SPEA) which is responsible 
for developing public policies and strategic plans, and proposing 
the necessary legislation to regulate and develop private education 
in the Emirate of Sharjah and granting and approving licenses 
for private educational institutions.

ABU DHABI SECURITIES MARKET GENERAL INDEX DUBAI FINANCIAL MARKETS GENERAL INDEX
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIALS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 

INCOME STATEMENT:

BOS Consolidated Balance Sheet

 » Total Assets reached AED 31,747 million as at 31/12/2019, against AED 29,123 million as at 31/12/2018, up by 9%.

 » Total Customers’ Deposits reached AED 21,326 million as at 31/12/2019, against AED 20,119 million as at 31/12/2018, up by 6%.

 » Total Loans and advances reached AED 17,736 million as at 31/12/2019, against AED 17,301 million as at 31/12/2018, up by 3%.

 » Net liquidity reached AED 6,443 million as at 31/12/2019, against AED 5,688 million as at 31/12/2018, up by 13%.

 » Net interest income reached AED 416 million for the year ended 31/12/2019, against AED 513 million for the year ended 31/12/2018.

 » Net operating loss reached AED 148 million for the year ended 31/12/2019 compared to an income of AED 469 million for the year 
ended 31/12/2018.

 » Net loss of AED 488 million for the year ended 31/12/2019, compared to a profit of AED 130 million for the year ended 31/12/2018.

 » Total comprehensive loss of AED 635 million for the year ended 31/12/2019, compared to an income of AED 3 million for the 
year ended 31/12/2018.
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Balance Sheet EL Bank
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EMIRATES LEBANON BANK S.A.L. (EL BANK) ACTIVITIES

INCOME STATEMENT:

 » Total Assets reached AED 5,852 million as at 31/12/2019 against AED 5,333 million as at 31/12/2018, up by 10%.

 » Total Loans and advances reached AED 2,065 million as at 31/12/2019, against AED 2,147 million as at 31/12/2018, down by 4%.

 » Total Liabilities reached AED 4,757 million as at 31/12/2019, against AED 4,300 million as at 31/12/2018, up by 11%.

 » Total Customers’ deposits reached AED 4,307 million as at 31/12/2019, against AED 4,038 million as at 31/12/2018, up by 7%.

 » Total Equity reached AED 1,094 million as at 31/12/2019, against AED 1,033 million as at 31/12/2018, up by 6%.

 » Total Off-Balance Sheet reached AED 886 million as at 31/12/2019, against AED 1,173 million as at 31/12/2018, down by 24%.

 » Net Liquidity reached AED 2,796 million as at 31/12/2019, against AED 2,205 million as at 31/12/2018, up by 27%.

 » Net interest income reached AED 153 million for the year ended 31/12/2019, against AED 119 million for the year ended 
31/12/2018, up by 29%.

 » Net operating income reached AED 115 million for the year ended 31/12/2019, against AED 152 million for the year ended 
31/12/2018, down by 24%.

 » Net profit amounts to AED 7 million for the year ended 31/12/2019, against AED 47 million for the year ended 31/12/2018, 
down by 85%.

 » Total comprehensive loss reached AED 9 million for the year ended 31/12/2019, against an income of AED 44 million for the 
year ended 31/12/2018, down by 120%.
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PUBLIC DISCLOSURES ON CAPITAL ADEQUACY
The following qualitative and quantitative disclosures are being 
provided in accordance with the regulatory capital adequacy 
guidelines promulgated by the Central Bank of the United Arab 
Emirates. The guidelines are based on the standards established 
by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision of the Bank for 
International Settlements (Basel III). These guidelines support 
market discipline by providing market participants with disclosures 
to help them understand the risk assessment and management 
process, risk exposures, capital structure, and capital adequacy. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
Basel III guidelines require banks to have effective mechanisms in 
place for the active identification, measurement and monitoring 
of risks across all business lines. Key risks are classified as Credit 
Risk, Market Risk, Liquidity Risk or Operational Risk. The Bank 
has implemented appropriate structures to manage and mitigate 
these and other risks.

RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE
Risk Management forms part of the overall governance structure 
of the Bank. Its aim is to protect the Bank and its stakeholders 
from exposure to undue losses by ensuring that the Bank’s credit 
and operational activities are constantly monitored and managed 
within prescribed policies and to ensure that the asset and liability 
profile is managed and maintained within approved parameters.

To fulfil its obligations to stakeholders, the Bank has established 
Senior Management committees to oversee risk management. 
The Executive Committee (EC), under delegation from the 
Board of Directors, has defined policies, processes and 
systems to monitor and manage credit risk, operational risk, 
market risk and liquidity risk. The members of the EC comprise 
the Chairman and three Board Members, in addition to the 
Executive Director and General Manager. The EC meets at least 
four times a year, or more frequently as circumstances dictate. 
The quorum requires all members to be present at the meeting 
and decisions taken should be unanimous. 

In addition, a “Board Risk Committee” meeting at least quarterly 
was established in 2011 to assist the Board to ensure that 
the Bank has implemented an effective policy and plan for risk 
management that will enhance the Bank’s ability to achieve 
strategic objectives, and that the disclosures regarding risk are 
comprehensive, timely, and relevant. 

Additionally, the Bank has an independent Credit Risk function 
that monitors and reviews adherence to risk management policies 
and procedures The Bank’s internal audit function, which is part 
of the risk framework, primarily evaluates the effectiveness of 
operational risk controls. The Internal Audit department reports 
to the Board Audit and Compliance Committee and consists 
of experienced and qualified staff members. The department is 
independent and has the authority and access to information to 
perform their duties with independence and objectivity. The 
function has a strategic alliance with a Big Four audit firm to 
provide specialized services and Subject Matter Expert (SME) 
support to compliment the work of the function.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument 
will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party 
to incur a financial loss. The Group attempts to control credit 
risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions 
with specific counter-parties, and continually assessing the 
creditworthiness of counter-parties. In addition to monitoring 
credit limits, the Group manages the credit exposure relating 
to its trading activities by entering into master netting 
agreements and collateral arrangements with counter-parties 
in appropriate circumstances, and by limiting the duration 
of exposure. In certain cases, the Group may also close out 
transactions or assign them to other counter-parties to 
mitigate credit risk.

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counter-
parties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in 
the same geographic region, or have similar economic features 
that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations 
to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political, or 
other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the 
relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments 
affecting a particular industry or geographic location.

Policies relating to credit are reviewed and approved by the 
Bank’s Board. All credit lines are approved in accordance with 
the Group’s credit policy set out in the Credit Policy Manual. 
Credit and marketing functions are segregated. In addition, 
whenever possible, loans are secured by acceptable forms of 
collateral in order to mitigate credit risk. The Group further 
limits risk through diversification of its assets by economic 
and industry sectors. 
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The composition of the loans and advances portfolio by industry is as follows:
 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000
Economic sector  
Trading 4,931,417 5,195,663
Services  4,627,290 5,124,260
Manufacturing 2,813,336 2,709,191
Personal loans for commercial purposes  2,509,787 2,677,525
Government 1,798,173 1,406,793
Construction  1,132,253 1,236,329
Mining and quarrying 698,298 132,359
Transport and communication 330,665 313,278
Financial institutions  259,792 265,242
Personal loans for individual purposes 177,187 115,881
Agriculture 78,754 70,774
Other 223,426 54,119
  
 19,580,378 19,301,414
Less: Allowance for impairment (1,844,622) (2,000,309)
  
  17,735,756 17,301,105
 ========= =========

The composition of the non-performing loans and advances portfolio by industry is as follows:

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000
Economic sector  
Trading 1,454,327 1,451,643
Manufacturing 917,970 333,233
Services  163,257 164,643
Construction  55,419 41,948
Personal loans for commercial purposes  41,884 122,786
Financial institutions 18,886 -
Personal loans for individual purposes 8,340 7,947
Transport and communication 7,248 3,384
  
 2,667,331 2,125,584
 ========= =========
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PUBLIC DISCLOSURES ON CAPITAL ADEQUACY
All credit facilities are administered and monitored by the Credit 
Administration Department. Periodic reviews are conducted 
by Credit Risk and facilities are risk graded based on criterion 
established in the Credit Policy Manual.

Cross border exposure and financial institutions exposure limits 
for money market and treasury activities are approved as per 
guidelines established by the Group’s Executive Committee and 
are monitored by the Senior Management on a daily basis.

The Board is responsible for setting the credit policy of the Bank 
It also establishes industry caps, approves policy exceptions, and 
conducts periodic portfolio reviews to ascertain portfolio quality.

Commercial/Institutional lending underwriting
All credit applications for Commercial and Institutional lending 
are subject to the Group’s credit policies, underwriting standards 
and industry caps (if any) and to regulatory requirements, 
as applicable from time to time. The Group does not lend 
to companies operating in industries that are considered by 
the Group inherently high risk and where industry knowledge 
specialisation is required. In addition, the Group sets credit limits 
for all customers based on their creditworthiness. 

All credit facilities extended by the Group are made subject 
to prior approval pursuant to a delegated signature authority 
system under the ultimate authority of the. Board Credit 
Committee or Management Credit Committee under the 
supervision of the Board. At least two signatures are required 
to approve any commercial or institutional credit application. 

Credit review procedures and loan classification
The Group’s Credit Risk department subjects the Group’s risk 
assets to an independent quality evaluation on a regular basis 
in conformity with the guidelines of the Central Bank of the 
U.A.E. and the Group’s internal policies in order to assist in 
the early identification of accrual and potential performance 
problems. The Credit Risk department validates the risk ratings 
of all commercial clients, provides an assessment of portfolio 
risk by product and industry and monitors observance of all 
approved credit policies, guidelines and operating procedures 
across the Group. 

All commercial/institutional loan facilities of the Group are 
assigned one of ten risk ratings (1-10) where 1 is being excellent 
and 10 being loss with no reimbursement capacity and total 
provisioning. As of the 1 January 2018, BOS has adopted 

Moody’s Risk Analyst Software (MRA) for its risk rating 
process that in replacement of the previously utilized internal 
risk rating calculator.

Credit loss allowances are measured using a three-stage approach 
based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination: 

Stage 1 – Where there has not been a significant increase 
in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition of a financial 
instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit 
loss is recorded. The expected credit loss is computed using a 
probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For 
those instruments with a remaining maturity of less than 12 
months, a probability of default corresponding to remaining 
term to maturity is used. 

Stage 2 – When a financial instrument experiences a SICR 
subsequent to origination but is not considered to be in default, 
it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of 
expected credit loss based on the probability of default over 
the remaining estimated life of the financial instrument.  

Stage 3 – Financial instruments that are considered to be 
in default are included in this stage. Similar to Stage 2, the 
allowance for credit losses captures the lifetime expected 
credit losses.

IMPAIRED LOANS AND SECURITIES
Impaired loans are loans for which the Group determines 
that it is likely the collectability of all principal and interest 
due according to the contractual terms of the loan/securities 
agreement(s) would be doubtful. 

WRITE-OFF POLICY
The Group writes off a loan balance (and any related allowances 
for impairment losses) when the Group determines that the 
loans are uncollectible. This determination is reached after 
considering information such as the occurrence of significant 
changes in the borrower/issuer’s financial position such that 
the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that 
proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the 
entire exposure. 

The Group holds collateral against loans and advances in 
the form of mortgage interests over properties, vehicles and 
machineries, cash margins, fixed deposits, guarantees and 
others. The Group accepts guarantees mainly from well-
reputed local or international banks, well-established local or 
multinational corporate and high net worth private individuals.
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LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

Executive Committee (EC) & Board Risk  
Committee (BRC)
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty 
in meeting obligations from its financial liabilities.

In addition to its credit related activity, the Executive Committee 
along with the Board Risk Committee have a broad range of 
authority delegated by the Board of Directors to manage the 
Group’s asset and liability structure and funding strategy. 
The EC and BRC review liquidity ratios; asset and liability 
structure; interest rate and foreign exchange exposures; internal 
and statutory ratio requirements; funding gaps; and general 
domestic and international economic and financial market 
conditions. The EC & BRC formulate liquidity risk management 
guidelines for the Group’s operation on the basis of such review. 

The Group’s Senior Management monitors the liquidity on 
a daily basis and uses an interest rate simulation model to 
measure and monitor interest rate sensitivity and varying 
interest rate scenarios. 

The EC members comprise of the Chairman, four Board 
Members, in addition to the secretary of the committee. The 
EC meets four times a year days, as circumstances dictate. The 
quorum requires all members to be present at the meeting and 
decisions taken to be unanimous.

The Group manages its liquidity in accordance with U.A.E. Central 
Bank requirements and the Group’s internal guidelines. The U.A.E. 
Central Bank sets cash ratio requirements on overall deposits 
ranging between 1.0 percent for time deposits and 14.0 percent 
for demand deposits, according to the tenor of the deposits. The 
U.A.E. Central Bank also imposes a mandatory 1:1 utilisation 
ratio, whereby; loans and advances (combined with inter-bank 
placements having a remaining term of 'greater than three 
months') should not exceed stable funds as defined by the U.A.E. 
Central Bank. Stable funds are defined by the U.A.E. Central Bank 
to mean free-own funds, inter-bank deposits with a remaining 
term of more than six months, and stable customer deposits. 
To guard against liquidity risk, the Group diversifies its funding 
sources and manages its assets with liquidity in mind, seeking to 
maintain a preferable proportion between cash, cash equivalent, 
and readily marketable securities. The Board Risk Committee sets 
and monitors liquidity ratios and regularly revises and updates the 
Group’s liquidity management policies to ensure that the Group 
would be in a position to meet its obligations as they fall due. 
Management of liquidity risk within the parameters prescribed 

by the Board Risk Committee has been delegated to an Asset 
and Liability Committee (ALCO) comprising the Deputy General 
Manager and senior executives from treasury, finance, corporate 
credit, and investment departments.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that 
it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when they fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or potential damage to 
the Group’s reputation. 

The Treasury department communicates with other business 
units regarding the liquidity profile of their financial assets and 
liabilities and details of other projected cash flows arising from 
projected future business. The Treasury maintains a portfolio 
of short-term liquid assets to ensure liquidity is maintained 
within the Group’s operations as a whole. 

The daily liquidity position is monitored and regular liquidity 
stress testing is performed under a variety of scenarios 
covering both normal and severe market conditions. All liquidity 
policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by 
the Board Risk Committee. The Daily Position sheet, which 
reports the liquidity and exchange positions of the Group is 
reviewed by Senior Management. A summary report, including 
any exceptions and remedial action taken, is submitted to the 
Board Risk Committee. 

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT
Market Risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of the financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 
market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
and equity prices. The Group classifies exposures to market risk 
into trading, or non-trading /banking book. 

a) Market risk - trading book
The Executive Committee has set limits for acceptable level 
of risks in managing the trading book. The Group maintains a 
well-diversified portfolio. In order to manage the market risk in 
the trading book, the Group carries a limited amount of market 
risk based on the policy preference and this is continuously 
monitored by Senior Management. Proprietary trading for the 
account of the Group is managed by a proprietary trading limit 
with a stop-loss limit. 

The Group’s trading book mainly comprises of equity instruments 
in companies listed on the U.A.E. exchanges. As such, the 
market risk in the trading book is limited to equity price risk. 
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Equity price risk refers to the risk of a decrease in the fair 
values of equities in the Group’s trading investment portfolio 
as a result of reasonable possible changes in levels of equity 
indices and the value of individual stocks.

b) Market risk - non-trading or banking book
Market risk on non-trading or banking positions mainly arises 
from the interest rate, foreign currency exposures and equity 
price changes.

i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in 
interest rates will affect the value of financial instruments. The 
Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches 
or gaps in the amounts of assets and liabilities.

The Group uses simulation-modelling tools to periodically 
measure and monitor interest rate sensitivity. The results are 
monitored and analysed by the Senior Management. Since 
most of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are floating 
rate, deposits and loans generally re-price simultaneously 
providing a natural hedge, which reduces interest rate 
exposure. Moreover, the majority of the Group’s assets and 
liabilities will be re-priced within one year or less, thereby 
further limiting interest rate risk. 

The effective interest rate (effective yield) of a monetary 
financial instrument is the rate that, when used in a present 
value calculation, results in the carrying amount of the 
instrument, excluding non-interest bearing items. The rate is a 
historical rate for a fixed rate instrument carried at amortised 
cost and the current market rate for a floating rate instrument 
or for an instrument carried at fair value.

ii) Currency risk

Currency risk represents the risk of change in the value of 
financial instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
The Board has set limits on positions by currencies, which are 
monitored daily, and hedging instruments are also used to 
ensure that positions are maintained within the limits. 

The Group’s assets are typically funded in the same currency 
as that of the business transacted in order to eliminate foreign 
exchange exposure. However, in the normal course of business the 
Group provides foreign currency exposures to finance its client’s 
activities. The Executive Committee sets the limits on the level of 
exposure by currency for both overnight and intra-day positions, 
which are closely monitored by Senior Management. 

iii) Equity price risk

Equity price risk refers to the risk of a decrease in the fair value 
of equities in the Group’s non-trading investment portfolio as a 
result of reasonable possible changes in levels of equity indices 
and the value of individual stocks.

OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from system failure, 
human error, fraud, or external events. When controls fail to 
perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, and 
may have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial 
losses. The Group would not be able to eliminate all operational 
risks, but through a control framework and by monitoring and 
responding to potential risks, the Group could minimise the 
risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, 
authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and 
assessment processes, including the use of internal audit.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND ALLOCATION

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT PROCESS 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a 
broader concept than the ‘equity’ in the consolidated statement 
of financial positions, are:

• To comply with the capital requirements set by the Central 
Bank of United Arab Emirates;

• To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and increase the returns for the shareholders; and

• To maintain a strong capital base to support the development 
of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored on  
a regular basis by the Group’s management, employing techniques 
based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and 
the Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates. The required 
information is filed with the authority on a quarterly basis.

The Group assets are risk weighted as to their relative credit, 
market, and operational risk. Credit risk includes both on and  
off-balance sheet risks. 

Market risk is defined as the risk of losses in on and off-balance 
sheet positions arising from movements in market prices and 
includes profit rate risk, foreign exchange risk, equity exposure 
risk, and commodity risk. Operational risk is defined as the risk 
of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people or systems, or from external events. 
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The Group’s regulatory capital is analysed into two Tiers:

• Common equity Tier 1 (CET 1) capital, which includes 
ordinary share capital, legal reserve, general reserve and 
retained earnings; fair value reserves, after deductions for 
intangibles, and other regulatory adjustments relating to 
items that are included in equity but are treated differently 
for capital adequacy purposes under “CBUAE” guidelines. 

• Tier 2 capital comprises of collective provision which shall 
not exceed 1.25% of total credit risk weighted assets. 

The following limits have been applied for Tier 2 capital:

• Total Tier 2 capital shall not exceed 67% of Tier 1 capital;

• Subordinated liabilities shall not exceed 50% of total Tier 1 
capital; and

• Collective provision shall not exceed 1.25% of total credit 
risk weighted assets. 

The minimum capital adequacy requirements as set out by 
the Central Bank are as follows:

• Minimum common equity Tier 1 (CET 1) ratio of 7% of risk 
weighted assets (RWAs).

• Minimum Tier 1 ratio of 8.5% of RWAs.

• Total capital adequacy ratio of 10.5% of RWAs.

In addition to CET 1 ratio of 7% of RWAs, a capital conservation 
buffer (CCB) of 2.5% of RWAs shall be maintained in the form 
of CET 1.

Further, counter cyclical buffer (CCyB) requirement shall be 
met by using CET 1. The level of CCyB is to be notified by 
'the Central Bank'. There is no CCyB requirement during the 
current period.

The Group has complied with all the externally imposed 
capital requirements.

CAPITAL ADEQUACY FRAMEWORK (BASEL III)
The Basel III framework incorporates three equally important 
and mutually reinforcing pillars:

Pillar I

Minimum Capital requirements for credit risk-weighted assets, 
market risk-weighted assets, and operational risk. 

Credit risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a 
hierarchy of risk weightings classified according to the nature 
of each asset (on and off-balance sheet) and counterparty, 

taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. 

Market risk-weighted assets are determined by taking into 
account market related risks such as foreign exchange, interest 
rate, and equity position risks. 

CREDIT RISK
Basel III has specified three approaches to the calculation of the 
regulatory capital requirement for credit risk which are (1) the 
Standardised approach, (2) the Foundation Internal Ratings-
Based (‘IRB’) approach and (3) the Advanced ‘IRB’ approach. 

Bank of Sharjah applies the Standardised approach that uses 
external credit ratings provided by External Credit Assessment 
Institutions (ECAI) approved by CBUAE, to determine the 
risk weightings to be applied to rated counterparties. Risk 
weightings for non-rated counterparties are assigned at 100%.

MARKET RISK
The Bank assesses Market Risk through the Standardised 
approach, under which interest rate risk and equity position 
risks are restricted to the trading book. Foreign exchange, 
commodity, and option risks are applied on the banking book.

OPERATIONAL RISK
The Bank applies the Basic Indicator Approach.

Pillar II - Supervisory Review Process (SRP)

The SRP requires banks to implement a process for assessing 
their capital adequacy in relation to their risk profiles as well 
as a strategy for maintaining their capital levels. Under this 
pillar, banks’ procedures and measures should ensure (1) an 
appropriate identification and measurement of the risk profile 
of their activities; (2) an appropriate level of internal capital to 
cover these risks, and (3) application and further development 
of suitable risk management systems. 

Supervisors are required to intervene at an early stage to 
prevent capital falling below the minimum levels required to 
support the risk characteristics of the Bank.

Pillar III - Market Discipline

The purpose behind this pillar is to enhance transparency 
by expanding public reporting on the risk position of banks, 
hence increasing comparability among them. 

Bank of Sharjah implements all three pillars of the Basel III 
framework. 
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CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Basel III

The capital adequacy ratio is computed based on circulars issued by the U.A.E. Central Bank:

 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
 AED’000 AED’000
 (audited) (unaudited)
Capital base  

Common Equity Tier 1 2,920,581 3,312,548
Additional Tier 1 capital - -
  
Tier 1 capital 2,920,581 3,312,548
Tier 2 capital 329,871 294,292
  
Total capital base 3,250,452 3,606,840
 ========= =========

Risk-weighted assets  

Credit risk 26,389,680 23,543,342
Market risk  360,838 288,487
Operational risk 1,290,982 1,414,857
  
Total risk-weighted assets 28,041,500 25,246,686
 ========= =========

Capital ratios   

Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio 10.42% 13.12%
Tier 1 capital ratio  10.42% 13.12%
Total capital ratio 11.59% 14.29% 
 ========= =========
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1. RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS

 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
 AED’000 AED’000
Pillar 1  

Credit Risk 26,389,680 23,543,342
Market Risk 360,838 288,487
Operational Risk 1,290,982 1,414,857
  
Total Risk Weighted Assets 28,041,500 25,246,686
 ========= =========

CREDIT RISK
2019

AED 000's
Asset Classes

ON & OFF 
BALANCE SHEET

Gross Outstanding
Exposure  

Before CRM CRM After CRM

CREDIT RISK MITIGATION (CRM)
RISK WEIGHTED  

ASSETS

Claims On Sovereigns 6,580,925 6,291,245 - 6,289,620 2,529,889

Claims On Non-Commercial  
Public Sector Entities (PSEs) 829,760 829,760 - 479,660 -

Claims on Multi-Lateral 
Development Banks - - - - -

Claims On Banks 823,159 823,159 - 820,365 101,932

Claims on Securities Firms 1,149 1,149 - 1,149 732

Claims On Corporates & GREs 17,383,840 17,383,840 2,957,799 14,367,844 11,410,045

Claims Included In The 
Regulatory Retail Portfolio 1,062,445 1,062,445 144,828 976,991 827,587

Claims Secured By 
Residential Property 3,248,396 3,248,396 109,489 3,248,396 2,360,225

Claims Secured By 
Commercial Real Estate 37,541 37,541 - 37,541 37,541

Past Due Loans 3,369,407 2,445,682 146 2,445,607 3,201,289

Higher-Risk Categories - - - - -

Other Assets 5,980,291 5,980,291 - 5,980,291 5,920,440

Total Claims 39,316,913 38,103,508 3,212,262 34,647,464 26,389,680

Settlement Risk      -

Total Credit Risk     26,389,680
  =========
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ON & OFF 
BALANCE SHEET

Gross Outstanding
Exposure  

Before CRM CRM After CRM

CREDIT RISK MITIGATION (CRM)
RISK WEIGHTED  

ASSETS

Claims On Sovereigns 5,333,358 5,333,358 - 5,262,836 2,013,410

Claims On Non-Commercial  
Public Sector Entities (PSEs) 619,988 619,988 - 269,902 -

Claims on Multi-Lateral 
Development Banks - - - - -

Claims On Banks 1,395,635 1,395,635 3 1,374,909 131,520

Claims on Securities Firms 3,600 3,600 - 3,600 2,403

Claims On Corporates & GREs 16,359,069 16,359,069 2,790,974 13,341,942 10,550,969

Claims Included In The 
Regulatory Retail Portfolio 1,328,965 1,328,965 307,416 1,264,174 951,261

Claims Secured By 
Residential Property 3,517,699 3,517,699 403,695 3,505,347 2,333,026

Claims Secured By 
Commercial Real Estate 186,038 186,038 - 185,487 185,487

Past Due Loans 2,652,424 1,316,066 149 1,313,422 1,605,481

Higher-Risk Categories 2,088,367 2,088,367 - 2,088,367 3,132,550

Other Assets 2,858,375 2,858,375 - 2,858,375 2,637,235

Total Claims 36,343,518 35,007,160 3,502,237 31,468,361 23,543,342

Settlement Risk      -

Total Credit Risk     23,543,342
     =========

CREDIT RISK
2018

AED 000's
Asset Classes

MARKET RISK
 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Interest rate risk-trading book - -
Foreign exchange risk 4,438 167
Equity exposure risk-trading book 33,450 30,124
  
Market risk total capital charge 37,888 30,291
 ========= =========
Market risk-risk weighted assets (above total /10.50) 360,838 288,487
  

OPERATIONAL RISK  

Three-year average Gross Income 688,523 754,590
  
Capital charge (Beta factor (15%)) 103,279 113,189
 ========= =========
Capital charge UAE (1.313* Capital Charge) 135,553 148,560
 ========= =========
Operational risk-risk weighted assets (above total/10.50) 1,290,982 1,414,857
 ========= =========
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2. CAPITAL RATIOS

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Tier 1 Ratio 

Tier 1 capital 2,920,581(a) 3,312,548(a)

Total risk weighted assets 28,041,500(b) 25,246,686(b)
 ========= =========
Tier 1 Ratio ((a)/(b)) 10.42 % 13.12 %
 ========= =========

Capital Adequacy Ratio

Capital Base 3,250,452(a) 3,606,840(a)

Total risk weighted assets 28,041,500(b) 25,246,686(b)
 ========= =========
Tier 1 Ratio ((a)/(b)) 11.59 % 14.29 %
 ========= =========
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GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTIONS
1. The General Assembly approved unanimously the Board of Directors’ report on the bank’s activities for the year ending 

31/12/2019.

2. The General Assembly approved unanimously the Auditors’ Report for the year ending 31/12/2019.

3. The General Assembly approved unanimously the Balance Sheet and the Profit & Loss Statements as at 31/12/2019.

4. The General Assembly approved unanimously to discharge the liability of the Directors for their services during the period 
ending 31/12/2019. 

5. The General Assembly approved unanimously to discharge the liability of the External Auditors for their services during the 
period ending 31/12/2019.

6. The General Assembly approved unanimously to appoint M/S Deloitte as External Auditors for the financial year 2020 and 
fix their remuneration at AED 985,000;  

Subject to the approval of the concerned authorities.

7. The General Assembly elected by secret cumulative vote the new Board of Directors for the period 2020-2023, after registering 
the withdrawal of Mr. Abul Rahman Ali Al Hasawi as per the following:

 1. Sheikh Mohammed Bin Saud Al Qasimi

 2. Sheikh Saif Bin Mohammed Bin Butti Al Hamed

 3. H.E. Humaid Nasir Al Owais 

 4. Mr. Abdul Aziz Al Midfa

 5. Mr. Abdul Aziz Al Hasawi

 6. Mr. Saud Al Besharah

 7. Mr. Salem Al Ghammai

 8. Mr. Salah Ahmed Abdalla Al Noman

 9. Mr. Abdulla Mohammed Sherif Al Fahim

 10. Mr. Francois Dauge 

 11. Mr. Amer Abdulaziz Hussain Khansaheb

SPECIAL DECISIONS:

8. The General Assembly approved unanimously the update of the Bank's Euro Medium Term Note Programme (Non-convertible 
to shares) and increase its current global size from US$1,500,000,000 to US$2,500,000,000 (or the equivalent thereof in 
any other currency) and the issuance of any bonds under the Programme, which should be completed within one year from the 
date of the Annual General Assembly Meeting, with delegation to the Board of Directors to decide on the modalities of such 
issuance and the amendment of any document related to the Programme (subject to obtaining the necessary approvals from 
the relevant regulatory authorities).

9. The General Assembly approved unanimously the special resolution proposed by the Board of Directors of the Bank to issue Tier 1  
Capital Perpetual Securities (Non-convertible to shares) for an aggregate amount not exceeding US$ 500,000,000 (or the 
equivalent thereof in other currencies), and delegating to the Board of Directors the authority to decide on the date of issuance, 
which should be completed within one year from the date of the approval of the Annual General Assembly Meeting, and delegation 
to the Board of Directors to decide on the modalities and conditions of such issuance and signing of all documents and agreements 
related to the issuance (subject to obtaining approvals from the relevant regulatory authorities). The securities are intended to 
qualify as Additional Tier 1 Capital of the Bank in accordance with UAE Central Bank guidance on Basel III Capital Instruments.

The General Assembly No. 47 dated 5 August, 2020 adopted the following resolutions:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Board has pleasure in submitting their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

INCORPORATION AND REGISTERED OFFICE
Bank of Sharjah P.J.S.C. (the “Bank”) is a Public Joint Stock Company incorporated by an Amiri Decree issued on 22 December 1973 by His  
Highness the Ruler of Sharjah and was registered in February 1993 under Commercial Companies Law Number 8 of 1984 (as amended). 
The Bank commenced operations under a banking license issued from the United Arab Emirates Central Bank dated 26 January 1974.

The Bank’s registered office is located at Al Khan Road, P.O. Box 1394, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Bank’s principal activities are commercial and investment banking.

RESULTS
The Bank’s UAE operations have generated a net profit of AED 163 million (2018: AED 130 million) However as a result of the 
exceptional situation in Lebanon, unrealized non cash provisions were called for on the Bank’s subsidiary, Emirates Lebanon Bank 
SAL (“ELBank”), leading to a net loss of AED 488 million.

The unrealized losses represent AED 274 million goodwill impairment, out of which AED 185 million is denominated in Lebanese Liras at 
the official LBP rate and AED 377 million towards Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”) on limited exposure in Sovereign Bonds and balances 
maintained with Banque Du Liban (“BDL”), while it is expected that this ECL will be amortized as per expected BDL guidelines, over 5 to 
10 years with effect from 2020 onwards and depending on compliance with Circular No. 13129, dated 4 November 2019, calling for the 
increase by 20% of the Equity of Lebanese banks prior to 30 June 2020. (Bank of Sharjah has complied fully with the above Circular).

The detailed results are set out in the attached consolidated financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS
The Board of Directors has reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources and support to continue its operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The consolidated financial statements disclose related party transactions and balances in note 35. All transactions are carried out as 
part of our normal course of business and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

AUDITORS
KPMG were appointed as external auditors for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019. KPMG have expressed their 
willingness to continue in office. A shareholder resolution for the reappointment of KPMG is proposed and to absolve them of 
their responsibility for the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year were:

1. Sheikh Mohammed Bin Saud Al Qasimi (Chairman)
2. Sheikh Saif Bin Mohammed Bin Butti Al Hamed (Vice Chairman)
3. HE. Humaid Nasir Al Owais 
4. Mr. Abdul Aziz Al Midfa
5. Mr. Abdul Aziz Al Hasawi
6. Mr. Saud Al Besharah
7. Mr. Salem Al Ghammai
8. Salah Ahmed Abdalla Al Noman
9. Mr. Abdulla Sherif Al Fahim
10. Mr. François Dauge

On behalf of the Board

Mohammed Bin Saud Al Qasimi 
Chairman
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of Bank of Sharjah P.J.S.C. 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bank of Sharjah P.J.S.C. (“the Bank”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated statements of profit 
or loss, profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, 
comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

IMPAIRMENT OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
Refer to note 4.4.3, 5.2, 9, 33 and 38 of the consolidated financial statements.

The Group recognized allowances for credit losses on its consolidated statement of financial position using an expected credit loss 
model ("ECL"). The Group exercises significant judgments and makes a number of assumptions in developing its ECL models, which 
include probability of default, loss given default, exposure at default, forward looking information and staging criteria. Qualitative 
adjustments or overlays may also be recorded by the Group using credit judgement where the inputs, assumptions and/ or modelling 
techniques do not capture all relevant risk factors.

Given the inherently judgemental nature of computation of ECL for loans and advances, this is considered a key audit matter.

OUR RESPONSE
We have performed end to end process walkthroughs to identify the key systems, applications and controls used in the ECL Process 
and to understand the governance framework around model adoption and approval of ECL coefficients, data gathering, its integrity 
and underlying estimates and assumptions used by the management.

Controls Testing

• Testing key controls over modelling process, including model review and approval;

• Testing key controls over the accuracy of key inputs and appropriateness of key assumptions and judgment’s used in the model;

• Testing key controls over significant increase in credit risk (SICR) criteria involved testing controls relating to authorisation of 
the criteria and the application of the criteria in the models;
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• Testing key controls over internal credit grading (which is a key driver in determining SICR) and monitoring the process; to 
assess if the risk grades allocated to counterparties were appropriately identified and updated on a timely basis;

• Testing controls over the assessment of model outputs and authorisation and review of post model adjustments and 
management overrides.

Involvement of Specialists

• We involved our accounting specialists to assist in reviewing the reasonableness of the Group’s IFRS 9 policy including the 
appropriateness of the assumptions being used and for the portfolios examined we have involved our financial risk modelling 
specialists to assist in evaluating the appropriateness of the SICR criteria including assessing the IFRS 9 ECL methodology, 
macro-economic scenarios and probabilities used by the management in the Group’s IFRS 9 ECL models. As part of this work 
we assessed probability of default (‘PD’), loss given default (‘LGD’) and exposure at default (‘EAD’) assumptions. 

• We have involved our information technology specialists to assist in testing the relevant General IT and Applications Controls 
over Key Systems used in ECL Process.

Substantive Testing

• Sample testing over key inputs and assumptions impacting ECL calculations including macro-economic forecasts and weightages to 
confirm the accuracy of information used;

• Re-performing key aspects of the Group’s SICR determinations and selecting samples of financial instruments to determine 
whether a SICR was appropriately identified;

• Selecting a sample of post model adjustments and management overlays in order to assess the reasonableness of the adjustments 
by challenging key assumptions, inspecting the calculation methodology and tracing a sample back to source data;

• Performing credit assessments for a sample of selected corporate customers, including Stage 3 customers, to test the appropriateness 
of the credit grades at a given point in time and assess the financial performance of the borrower, source of repayment and future 
cash flows of the borrower to assess recoverability and ECL by comparing key assumptions to progress against business plans and 
our own understanding of relevant industries and business environment and where possible to externally derived evidence such as 
business performance and real estate valuations for assessing the appropriateness of collateral values held by the Group; and

• Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure in relation to transition impact arising from first time application of IFRS 9 and 
use of significant estimates and judgement by reference to the requirements of the relevant accounting standards.

VALUATION OF LEVEL 3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Refer to note 5.2, 10 and 40 of the consolidated financial statements.

The risk is that the valuation of financial instruments maybe misstated due to the application of valuation techniques which 
often involve the exercise of significant judgement and the use of assumptions and estimates.

Of the financial instruments that are held at fair value through profit or loss or as fair value through other comprehensive income 
in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position, 34% (2018: 40%) were measured using level 3 inputs in the fair value 
hierarchy as at 31 December 2019.

Financial instruments are classed at Level 3 because significant pricing inputs to them are unobservable. The determination 
of these prices is inherently more subjective and as such due to the uncertainty in estimating some of the fair values, this is 
considered as a key audit matter.

OUR RESPONSE
Our audit procedures included:

1. The assessment of controls over the identification, measurement and management of valuation risk, evaluating the 
methodologies, reasonableness of inputs and assumptions used by the Group in determining fair values. 

2. Where necessary, involved specialist in assessing, for a selection of investments, key inputs, assumptions used by management 
and supporting to key factors.

3. Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure in relation to the requirements of the relevant accounting standards. 
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VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTIES ACQUIRED IN SETTLEMENT OF DEBT
Refer to note, 4.6, 4.12, 11 and 13 of the consolidated financial statements.

Due to the significance of these properties, the general slowdown in the UAE real estate sector and the impact on the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and related estimation uncertainty, this is considered as a key audit matter.

The valuation of the portfolio is a significant judgment area and is underpinned by a number of assumptions. The existence of 
significant estimation uncertainty warrants specific audit focus in this area as any bias or error in determining the fair value, 
whether deliberate or not, could lead to an overstatement (or understatement) of profit or loss for the year.

OUR RESPONSE
Our audit procedures included:
1. We assessed the competence, independence and integrity of the external valuers and read their terms of engagement with 

the Group to determine whether there were any matters that might have affected their objectivity or may have imposed 
scope limitations on their work;

2. We obtained the external valuation reports for all properties and confirmed that the valuation approach is in accordance with 
international standards and suitable for use in determining the carrying value in the consolidated statement of financial position;

3. We involved a specialist to carry out procedures on selected samples, to assess key valuation assumptions, such as market rent, 
sale prices, discount rates and capitalisation rates and cross-check the accuracy of these assumptions adopted by the valuers; and

4. Based on the outcome of our evaluation we determined the adequacy of the disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.

CARRYING VALUE OF GOODWILL
Refer to note, 4.17 and 12 of the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s acquisition of Emirates Lebanon Bank resulted in goodwill being recorded. Management performed it’s annual 
impairment assessment of goodwill which arose from the acquisition. For cash generating units (CGUs) which contain goodwill, 
the determination of recoverable amount being the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use requires judgement on 
the part of management in both identifying and then determining the recoverable amount of the CGUs.

OUR RESPONSE
Our procedures included the following:
1. We assessed the management’s identification of CGU, and the methodology adopted by management in its impairment 

assessment of goodwill;
2. We assessed the reasonableness of the cash flow projections alongside with the growth rate assumption to externally available 

industry, economic and financial data;
3. We involved our valuation specialists to critically assess the appropriateness of the discount rates used in order to determine 

estimated discounted cash flows and benchmarking these against external data sources;
4. We performed sensitivity analysis over the estimated discounted future cash flows and assessed the impact of changes in 

the key assumptions to the conclusions reached by management in its impairment assessment and whether there were any 
indicators of management bias; and

5. We performed an assessment over management’s ability to accurately forecast and compared to actual results based on 
historic data available.

OTHER INFORMATION
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual 
Report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. We obtained the Directors' 
Report, prior to the date of this auditor's report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Annual Report after the 
date of the auditors' report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

When we will read the report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the 
matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate actions in accordance with ISAs.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
IFRSs and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:

i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;
ii) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the applicable provisions  
 of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015; 
iii) the Group has maintained proper books of account;
iv) the financial information included in the Directors’ Report, in so far as it relates to these consolidated financial statements,  
 is consistent with the books of account of the Group; 
v) as disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has purchased shares during the year ended  
 31 December 2019;
vi) note 35 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions and the terms under which  
 they were conducted;
vii) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe  
 that the Group has contravened during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 any of the applicable provisions of the 
 UAE Federal Law No.(2) of 2015 or in respect of the Bank, its Articles of Association, which would materially affect its  
 activities or its consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2019; and
viii) note 34 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the social contributions made during the year.

Further, as required by Article (114) of the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018, we report that we have obtained all the 
information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited

Fawzi AbuRass
Registration No: 968
Dubai, United Arab Emirates
Date: 8 July 2020
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As at 31 December 2019
 NOTES 2019 2018
  AED’000 AED’000
ASSETS  

Cash and balances with central banks  6 5,808,927 4,636,343
Deposits and balances due from banks  7 350,287 507,785
Reverse-repo placements 8 457,291 849,188
Loans and advances, net  9 17,735,756 17,301,105
Investments measured at fair value  10  619,478 817,319
Investments measured at amortised cost 10 452,219 671,554
Investments properties 11 756,037 608,473
Goodwill and other intangibles 12 136,587 416,056
Assets acquired in settlement of debt 13 4,044,572 2,113,117
Other assets 13 994,831 894,390
Derivative assets held for risk management 14 20,400 3,590
Property and equipment 15 370,920 304,577
   
TOTAL ASSETS  31,747,305 29,123,497
  ========= =========
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities  
Customers’ deposits  17 21,326,234 20,119,169
Deposits and balances due to banks 18 42,989 304,931
Repo borrowings  19 130,230 -
Other liabilities  20 1,513,253 1,267,702
Derivative liabilities held for risk management 14 7,577 62,808
Issued bonds 21 5,597,926 3,589,972
   
TOTAL LIABILITIES   28,618,209 25,344,582
  ========= =========
Equity
Capital and reserves  

Share capital   22 (a) 2,100,000 2,100,000
Statutory reserve  22 (b) 1,050,000 1,050,000
Contingency reserve 22(c) 640,000 600,000
General and other reserves 9 (d) & 22 (d) 293,109 250,257
Investment fair value reserve  (682,249) (535,375)
(Accumulated losses) / Retained earnings   (291,984) 300,324
   
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank   3,108,876 3,765,206
Non-controlling interests  20,220 13,709
   
Total equity   3,129,096 3,778,915
   
Total liabilities and equity   31,747,305 29,123,497
  ========= =========

MOHAMMED BIN SAUD AL QASIMI 
Chairman

VAROUJ NERGUIZIAN
General Manager

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

To the best of our knowledge, the consolidated financial statements fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position, financial performance and consolidated cash flows of the Group as of, and for, the year ended 31 December 2019.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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As at 31 December 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

 NOTES 2019 2018
  AED’000 AED’000

Interest income  28 1,388,048 1,268,889
Interest expense  29 (972,393) (756,166)
   
NET INTEREST INCOME   415,655 512,723
Net fee and commission income 30 159,823 172,866
Exchange profit  11,532 14,928
Income on investments 31 21,740 31,303
Revaluation loss on properties and shares  11, 12, 13 (84,677) (25,635)
Other income 32 40,034 15,292
   
OPERATING INCOME  564,107 721,477
Net impairment loss on financial assets 33 (438,654) (251,785)
Goodwill impairment  12 (273,559) -
   
NET OPERATING (LOSS)/ INCOME  (148,106) 469,692
Personnel expenses 34 (183,721) (197,723)
Depreciation 34 (34,862) (27,915)
Other expenses 34 (99,283) (91,762)
Amortisation of intangible assets  12  (5,910) (5,910)
   
(LOSS)/ PROFIT BEFORE TAXES  (471,882) 146,382
   
Income tax expense - overseas  (15,802) (16,680)
   
NET (LOSS)/ PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  (487,684) 129,702
  ========= =========

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:   
 
Equity holders of the Bank  (494,195) 127,455
Non-controlling interests  6,511 2,247
   
NET (LOSS)/ PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  (487,684) 129,702
  ========= =========
BASIC AND DILUTED (LOSS)/ EARNINGS PER SHARE (AED) 23 (0.24) 0.06
  ========= =========

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

NET (LOSS)/ PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (487,684) 129,702
  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ITEMS  
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to consolidated  
statement of profit or loss:

Net changes in fair value of financial assets measured at fair value  
through other comprehensive income (104,488) (220,519)

Net changes in fair value of own credit risk on financial liabilities   
designated at fair value through profit or loss (42,386) 93,408
  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (146,874) (127,111)
  
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) / INCOME FOR THE YEAR (634,558) 2,591
 ========= =========
 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holders of the Bank (641,069) 344
Non-controlling interests 6,511 2,247
  
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) / INCOME FOR THE YEAR (634,558) 2,591
 ========= =========
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As at 31 December 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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As at 31 December 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CASH FLOWS
 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
Net (loss)/ profit for the year (487,684) 129,702

ADJUSTMENTS FOR:  
Depreciation of property and equipment 34,862 27,915
Amortisation of other intangible assets 5,910 5,910
Amortisation of premium on debt instruments  619 506
Gain on sale of investment properties 1,000 -
(Gain)/ loss on sale on assets acquired in settlement of debts (22,547) 15
Net fair value loss/ (gain) on issued debt securities 2,534 (54,874)
Net fair value (gain)/ loss on interest rate swaps (2,534) 54,874
Net fair value loss on other financial assets (396) (17,145)
Fair value (gain)/ loss on revaluation of investment properties and shares (17,353) 12,138
Unrealized loss on assets acquired in settlement of debts 100,676 13,497
Net impairment loss on financial assets  438,654 251,785
Dividends income (20,047) (15,091)
Goodwill impairment 273,559 -
  
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  307,253 409,232
CHANGES IN 
Deposits and balances due from banks maturing after three months 91,935 (28,134)
Statutory deposits with central banks (15,763) 69,468
Loans and advances  (873,305) (927,131)
Other assets (2,136,901) 25,909
Customers’ deposits  1,207,065 (1,511,302)
Other liabilities 163,955 247,961
  
CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1,255,761) (1,713,997)
Payment of directors’ remuneration and charity donations (18,306) (18,967)
  
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1,274,067) (1,732,964)
  
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Purchase of property and equipment  (20,281) (63,992)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 26,491 307
Purchase of other financial assets 2,085 (210,944)
Additions to investment properties (130,211) (35,753)
Proceeds from sale of other financial assets 310,379 117,828
Dividends received 20,047 15,091
  
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 208,510 (177,463)
  
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
Issued bonds 3,023,560 -
Partial settlement of bonds (1,126,931) -
  
NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,896,629 -
  
NET INCREASE/ (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 831,072 (1,910,427)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3,203,321 5,113,748
  
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR (NOTE 26) 4,034,393 3,203,321
 =========  =========

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Bank of Sharjah P.J.S.C. (the “Bank”), is a public joint stock company incorporated by an Amiri Decree issued on 22 December 1973 
by His Highness The Ruler of Sharjah and was registered in February 1993 under the Commercial Companies Law Number 8 of 
1984 (as amended). The Bank commenced its operations under a banking license issued by the United Arab Emirates Central Bank 
dated 26 January 1974. The Bank is engaged in commercial and investment banking activities. 

The Bank’s registered office is located at Al Khan Road, P.O. Box 1394, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates. The Bank operates through 
eight branches in the United Arab Emirates located in the Emirates of Sharjah, Dubai, Abu Dhabi, and City of Al Ain.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements combine the activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”).

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) 

2.1 Relevant new and revised IFRS 

Relevant new and revised IFRS applied with no material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

EFFECTIVE FOR ANNUAL PERIODS 
BEGINNING ON OR AFTER

EFFECTIVE FOR ANNUAL PERIODS 
BEGINNING ON OR AFTER

• Annual improvements 2015-2017 cycle  1 January 2019
• Prepayment features with Negative Compensation - Amendments to IFRS 9 1 January 2019
• Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Ventures – Amendments to IAS 28 1 January 2019
• Plan Amendment, Curtailments or Settlement - Amendments to IAS 19 1 January 2019

• Definition of a Business – Amendments to IFRS 3 1 January 2020
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 1 January 2020
• Definition of Material – Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 1 January 2020
• The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 1 January 2020
• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

Other than the above, there are no other significant IFRSs and amendments that were effective for the first time for the financial 
year beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

Management anticipates that these IFRS and amendments will be adopted in the consolidated financial statements in the initial 
period when they become mandatorily effective. The impact of these standards and amendments are currently being assessed by 
the management.

Relevant new and revised IFRS issued but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS, amendments and interpretations that have been issued but not 
yet effective:
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2.2 Changes in accounting policies
TRANSITION

The Group applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective 
approach, under which the cumulative effect of initial application 
is recognised in retained earnings at 1 January 2019. Accordingly, 
the comparative information presented for 2018 is not restated 
– i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 17 and 
related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting 
policies are disclosed below. Additionally, the disclosure 
requirements in IFRS 16 have not generally been applied to 
comparative information.

IMPACT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognised additional 
right-of-use assets and additional lease liabilities, recognising 
the difference in retained earnings. The impact on transition is 
summarised below. 

1 January 2019
AED’000

Right-of-use assets presented in property  
and equipment 80,321

Lease liabilities 82,840

Retained earnings (3,874)

When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified 
as operating leases, the Group discounted lease payments using 
its incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019. The weighted-
average rate applied is 4.23%.

1 January 2019
AED’000

Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018  
as disclosed under IAS 17 in the Group’s  
consolidated financial statements  109,001

Discounted using the incremental borrowing  
rate at 1 January 2019  4.23%

Lease liabilities recognized at 1 January 2019 82,840

ADJUSTMENTS RECOGNISED ON ADOPTION OF IFRS 16 

On adoption of IFRS 16, the group recognised lease liabilities 
in relation to leases which had previously been classified as 
'Operating leases' under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. These 
liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining 
lease payments, discounted using the lessee's incremental 
borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. The financial impact of 
adopting the standard is not material.
      
There were no leases previously classified as finance lease by 
the entity.

GROUP'S LEASING ACTIVITIES AND HOW THEY ARE 
ACCOUNTED FOR

During the financial year 2018, leases of office premises 
were classified as operating lease. Payments made under the 
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessor) were charged to profit and loss account on a straight 
line basis over the period of lease.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognized as a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which 
the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. 
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease 
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The 
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 
asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured 
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present 
value of the following lease payments:

• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), 
less any lease incentives receivable;

• Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under 
residual value guarantees;

• The exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is 
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 
term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit 
in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee 
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an 
asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with 
similar terms and conditions.

At each reporting date, the Group analyses the movements 
in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be 
re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting 
policies. For this analysis, the Group verifies the major inputs 
applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the 
valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 

• Any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date less any lease incentives received,

• Any initial direct costs, and

• Restoration costs.
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Critical judgments in determining the lease term:
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and 
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an 
extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension 
options (or periods after termination options) are only included in 
the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or 
not terminated). The assessment is reviewed if a significant event 
or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this 
assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an 
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a 
lease term of 12 months or less.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

3.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as issued by International Accounting Standard Board 
(IASB) and applicable requirements of the laws of the U.A.E. 

These consolidated financial statements include Basel III Pillar 
3 disclosures in accordance with the guidelines issued by the 
Central Bank of the UAE.

3.2 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments 
that are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting 
policies below. 

3.3 Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Arab 
Emirates Dirham (AED) and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousands dirham, except when otherwise indicated.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING  
 POLICIES  

4.1 Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the Bank and entities controlled by the Bank. 
Control is achieved when the Bank has:
• power over the investee, 
• exposure, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee; and 
• the ability to use its power over the investee to affect  

its returns.

The Bank reassesses whether or not it controls an investee 
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
This includes circumstances in which protective rights (e.g. 
more from a lending relationship) becomes substantive and 
lead to the Bank having power over as investee.

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting rights 
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting 
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct 
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Bank 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 
whether or not the Bank’s voting rights in an investee are 
sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Bank holding of voting rights relative  
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other  
vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Bank, other vote holders 
and other parties;

• rights raising from other contractual arrangements; and

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that 
the Bank has, or does not have, the current ability to 
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions 
need to be made, including voting patterns and previous 
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Bank obtains 
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Bank loses 
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from 
the date the Bank gains control until the date when the Bank 
ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 
income are attributable to the owners of the Bank and to the 
non-controlling interests. 

Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributable 
to the owners of the Group and to the non-controlling interest 
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and 
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the 
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that 
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries 
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts 
of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the 
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid/payable or received/receivable is recognised 
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Group.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the 
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 
retained interest, and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the 
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, and 
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are 
accounted for as if the Bank had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to statement 
of profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 
specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any 
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when 
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition 
for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 (IFRS 9 Financial 
instruments) issued in 2010, when applicable, the cost on initial 
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

4.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, unrestricted 
balances held with Central Banks, deposits and balances due from 
banks, items in the course of collection from or in transmission 
to other banks and highly liquid assets with original maturities 
of less than three months from the date of acquisition, which 
are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, 
and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term 
commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised 
cost in the consolidated statement of financial position.

4.3 Reverse-repo placements

Assets purchased with a simultaneous commitment to resell 
at a fixed price on a specified future date are not recognised. 
The amount paid to the counterparty under these agreements 
is shown as reverse repurchase agreements in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The difference between purchase 
and resale price is treated as interest income and accrued over 
the life of the reverse repurchase agreement and charged to 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective 
interest rate method and recognized initially at amortised cost.

4.4 Financial instruments

4.4.1 Recognition and Initial Measurement 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a 

financial asset for the Group and a financial liability or equity 
instrument for another party or vice versa.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
  
Recognised financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial 
liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair 
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities respectively, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

If the transaction price differs from fair value at initial recognition, 
the Group will account for such difference as follows:

• if fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active 
market for an identical asset or liability or based on a 
valuation technique that uses only data from observable 
markets, then the difference is recognised in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss on initial recognition (i.e. day 1 
profit or loss);

• in all other cases, the fair value will be adjusted to bring 
it in line with the transaction price (i.e. day 1 profit or 
loss will be deferred by including it in the initial carrying 
amount of the asset or liability).

After initial recognition, the deferred gain or loss will be released 
to consolidated statement of profit or loss on a rational basis, 
only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor 
(including time) that market participants would take into 
account when pricing the asset or liability.

4.4.2 Classification of financial assets

Balances with central banks, due from banks and financial 
institutions, financial assets and certain items in receivables and 
other assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost less impairment loss and deferred 
income, if any (except for those assets that are designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition).

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for 
financial assets: measured at amortized cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL). 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured 
at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.
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A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both 
of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is 
to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of 
the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective 
is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling financial assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for 
trading, the Bank may irrevocably elect to present subsequent 
changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an 
investment-by-investment basis.

In addition, on initial recognition the Bank may irrevocably 
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements 
to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL 
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of those financial instruments measured 
at amortised cost and of allocating income over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that is used to 
calculate the present value of the estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial instruments, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to 
arrive at the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss on an effective interest rate basis for financing and 
investing instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVTPL

Investments in equity instruments are classified as financial 
assets measured at FVTPL, unless the Group designates fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) at  
initial recognition.

Financial assets that do not meet the amortised cost criteria 
described above, or that meet the criteria but the Group has 

chosen to designate it as at FVTPL at initial recognition, are 
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets (other than equity instruments) may be 
designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation 
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities 
or recognizing the gains or losses on them on different basis.

Financial assets are reclassified from amortised cost to FVTPL 
when the business model is changed such that the amortised 
cost criteria are no longer met.

Reclassification of financial assets (other than equity instruments) 
designated as at FVTPL at initial recognition is not permitted.

Financial assets measured at FVTPL are measured at fair value at 
the end of each reporting period, with any gains or losses arising 
on re-measurement recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss at the end of each reporting period. The net gain or 
loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fair 
value is determined in the manner described in note 40.

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election 
(on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments 
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not 
permitted if the equity investment is held for trading.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it 
in the near term; 

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that the Group manages together 
and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term 
profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a 
hedging instrument or a financial guarantee.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, 
they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising 
from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the investments fair value reserve. 
Where the asset is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously accumulated in the investments fair value reserve is 
not transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss.

BUSINESS MODEL ASSESSMENT

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business 
model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because this 
best reflects the way the business is managed and information is 
provided to management. The information considered includes:
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• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the 
operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether 
management's strategy focuses on earning contractual 
interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate 
profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the 
duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or 
realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and 
reported to the Bank 's management;

• the risks that affect the performance of the business model 
(and the financial assets held within that business model) 
and how those risks are managed;

• how managers of the business are compensated - e.g. 
whether compensation is based on the fair value of the 
assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

• the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, 
the reasons for such sales and its expectations about 
future sales activity. However, information about sales 
activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an 
overall assessment of how the Bank’s stated objective for 
managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash 
flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured 
at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual 
cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and 
to sell financial assets.

ASSESSMENTS WHETHER CONTRACTUAL CASH FLOWS 
ARE SOLELY PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST

For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the 
fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 'Interest' 
is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for 
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding 
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending 
risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as 
well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest, the Bank considers the 
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing 
whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that 
could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows 
such that it would not meet this condition. 

In making the assessment, the Bank considers:

• contingent events that would change the amount and 
timing of cash flows;

• leverage features;

• prepayment and extension terms;

• terms that limit the Group's claim to cash from specified 
assets; and

• features that modify consideration of the time value of 
money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).

The Group holds a portfolio of long-term fixed-rate loans 
for which the Group has the option to propose to revise 
the interest rate at periodic reset dates. These reset rights 
are limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The 
borrowers have an option to either accept the revised rate 
or redeem the loan at par without penalty. The Group has 
determined that the contractual cash flows of these loans are 
SPPI because the option varies the interest rate in a way that 
is consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other 
basic lending risks and costs associated with the principal 
amount outstanding. 

NON-RECOURSE LOANS

In some cases, loans made by the Group that are secured by 
collateral of the borrower limit the Group's claim to cash flows 
of the underlying collateral (non-recourse loans). The group 
applies judgment in assessing whether the non-recourse loans 
meet the SPPI criterion. The Group typically considers the 
following information when making this judgement: 

• whether the contractual arrangement specifically defines 
the amounts and dates of the cash payments of the loan;

• the fair value of the collateral relative to the amount of the 
secured financial asset;

• the ability and willingness of the borrower to make contractual 
payments, notwithstanding a decline in the value of collateral;

• whether the borrower is an individual or a substantive 
operating entity or is a special-purpose entity;

• the Group's risk of loss on the asset relative to a full-
recourse loan; and

• the extent to which the collateral represents all or 
a substantial portion of the borrower's assets; and 
whether the Group will benefit from any upside from the 
underlying assets.

4.4.3 Measurement of ECL
Credit loss allowances are measured using a three-stage approach 
based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination: 

Stage 1 – Where there has not been a significant increase 
in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition of a financial 
instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit 
loss is recorded. The expected credit loss is computed using a 
probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For 
those instruments with a remaining maturity of less than 12 
months, a probability of default corresponding to remaining term 
to maturity is used. 
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Stage 2 – When a financial instrument experiences a SICR 
subsequent to origination but is not considered to be in default, 
it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of 
expected credit loss based on the probability of default over the 
remaining estimated life of the financial instrument. 

Stage 3 – Financial instruments that are considered to be in 
default are included in this stage. Similar to Stage 2, the allowance 
for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses.

ECLs are an unbiased probability weighted estimate of the 
present value of credit losses that is determined by evaluating 
a range of possible outcomes. For funded exposures, ECL is 
measured as follows:

• for financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the 
reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls 
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the 
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows that the Group expects to receive arising from 
the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, 
discounted at the asset’s effective interest rate (EIR);

• financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting 
date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

However, for unfunded exposures, ECL is measured as follows:

For undrawn loan commitments, as the present value of the 
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to 
the Group if the holder of the commitment draws down the 
loan and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the 
loan is drawn down; and for financial guarantee contracts, the 
expected payments to reimburse the holder of the guaranteed 
debt instrument less any amounts that the Group expects to 
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

The Group measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective 
basis for portfolios of loans that share similar economic and 
credit risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance 
is based on the present value of the asset’s expected cash 
flows using the asset’s original EIR, regardless of whether it is 
measured on an individual basis or a collective basis.

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term 
structure of the following variables:

• probability of default (PD)

• loss given default (LGD)

• exposure at default (EAD)

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed 
statistical models and other historical data. They are adjusted 
to reflect forward-looking information.

Details of these statistical parameters/inputs are as follows: 

• PD – PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, 
which are calculated based on statistical rating models 
currently used by the Group, and assessed using rating 
tools tailored to the various categories and sizes of 
counterparties .

• EAD – EAD represents the expected exposure upon 
default of an obligor. The Group derives the EAD from 
the current exposure to the counterparty and potential 
changes to the current amount allowed under the 
contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a 
financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of 
default. For lending commitments, the EADs are potential 
future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, 
which are estimated based on historical observations and 
forward-looking forecasts. For financial guarantees, the 
EAD represents the amount of the guaranteed exposure 
when the financial guarantee becomes payable.

 EAD is calculated as below:

  For Direct Facilities: Limit or Exposure whichever is higher
  For Letters of Credit & Acceptances: Limit or Exposure  
  whichever is higher
  For all types of Guarantees: Exposure

• LGD – LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. 
It is based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to 
receive, taking into account cash flows from the proceeds 
from liquidation of any collateral. The LGD models for 
secured assets consider forecasts of future collateral 
valuation taking into account sale discounts, time to 
realisation of collateral, cross-collateralization and seniority 
of claim, cost of realization of collateral and cure rates 
(i.e. exit from non-performing status). LGD models for 
unsecured assets consider time of recovery, recovery rates 
and seniority of claims. 

 LGD is derived as below:

  Senior Unsecured: 45% 
  Subordinated Unsecured: 75%
  Eligible Securities as per Basel lower LGD, taking into  
  consideration applicable Basel haircuts on collateral  
  as well as LGD floors to certain collateral

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective 
basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of 
shared risk characteristics that include:

• instrument type;

• credit risk grading;

• collateral type;
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• date of initial recognition;

• remaining term of maturity;

• industry;

• geography location of the borrower;

• size of counterparty; and

• segment of counterparty.

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that 
exposure within a particular group remain appropriately 
homogenous.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

The measurement of expected credit losses for each stage and 
the assessment of significant increases in credit risk considers 
information about past events and current conditions as well 

as reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and 
economic conditions. The estimation and application of forward-
looking information requires significant judgement. The group 
formulates three economic scenarios: a base case with a 40% 
weight, upside scenario with a 30% weight and an advance 
scenario with 30% weight. 

MACROECONOMIC FACTORS

In its models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward-
looking information as economic inputs, such as: GDP (Gross 
Domestic Product) growth and oil prices. The inputs and 
models used for calculating expected credit losses may not 
always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of 
the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments 
or overlays are made as temporary adjustments using expert 
credit judgement.

The economic scenarios used as at 31 December 2019 included the following key indicators for the years ending 31 December 
2020 to 2024.

 Macro
 Variable Scenario 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

UAE 

 
Oil Price

 Base -2.77% 1.54% -1.80% 0.79% 1.38%

  Upside 10.43% 10.51% -2.96% -1.05% -0.36%

  Downside -28.07% -10.17% 6.63% 10.15% 7.91%

 
GDP

 Base 2.20% 3.52% 3.16% 3.08% 2.88%

  Upside 3.28% 5.82% 4.31% 2.82% 1.93%

  Downside -2.84% -2.78% 1.36% 5.10% 4.79%

Lebanon

 
GDP

  Baseline  -4.50% 2.2% 4.5% 3.9% 3.4%

  Upside  -3.2% 3.2% 4.8% 4.4% 3.9%

  Downside -9.2% -1.0% 5.3% 5.8% 4.5%

 
Equity Index 

 Baseline  -40.9% 37.6% 24.5% 11.9% 7.5%

  Upside  -31.6% 47.8% 21.3% 10.3% 5.8%

  Downside -56.1% 25.8% 29.3% 15.2% 10.8%

ASSESSMENT OF SIGNIFICANT INCREASE IN CREDIT RISK

The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is done on a relative basis. To assess whether the credit risk on a financial 
asset has increased significantly since origination, the Group compares the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the 
financial asset at the reporting date to the corresponding risk of default at origination, using key risk indicators that are used in the 
Group’s existing risk management processes. At each reporting date, the assessment of a change in credit risk will be individually 
assessed for those considered individually significant. 

This assessment is symmetrical in nature, allowing credit risk of financial assets to move back to Stage 1, if certain criteria are met, 
if the increase in credit risk since origination has reduced and is no longer deemed to be significant.

The group assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition at each reporting date. Determining whether 
an increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the financial instrument and the borrower, and the geographical 
region. What is considered significant differs for different types of lending, in particular between wholesale and retail.
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The credit risk may be deemed to have increased significantly 
since initial recognition based on qualitative factors linked 
to the Group’s credit risk management process that may not 
otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a 
timely basis. This will be the case for exposures that meet 
certain heightened risk criteria, such as placement on a watch 
list. Such qualitative factors are based on its expert judgement 
and relevant historical experiences.

As a backstop, the group considers that a significant increase in 
credit risk occurs no later than when an asset is more than 30 
days past due. Days past due are determined by counting the 
number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect 
of which full payment has not been received. Due dates are 
determined without considering any grace period that might 
available to the borrower.

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase 
in credit risk relative to the initial recognition, than the loss 
allowance on an instrument returns to being measured as 
12-month ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an increase in 
credit risk, such as delinquency or forbearance, may be indicative 
of an increased risk of default that persists after the indicator 
itself has ceased to exist. In these cases, the Group determines 
a probation period during which the financial asset is required to 
demonstrate good behaviour to provide evidence that its credit 
risk has declined sufficiently. When contractual terms of a loan 
have been modified, evidence that the criteria for recognising 
lifetime ECL are no longer met includes a history of up-to-date 
payment performance against the modified contractual terms. 

The group monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to 
identify significant increases in credit risk by regular reviews 
to confirm that:

• the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases 
in credit risk before an exposure is in default;

• the criteria do not align with the point in time when an 
asset becomes 30 days past due;

• the average time between the identification of a significant 
increase in credit risk and default appears reasonable;

• exposures are not generally transferred directly from 
12-month ECL measurement to credit impaired; and 

• there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from 
transfers between 12-month PD [stage 1] and lifetime 
PD [stage 2]

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group considers reasonable and supportable information 
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. 
This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and 
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and expert 
credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a 
significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an exposure 
by comparing:

• The remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the 
reporting date; with

• The remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was 
estimated at the time of initial recognition of the exposure 
(adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment 
expectations)

The Group uses three criteria for determining whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk:

• quantitative test based on movement in PD;

• quantitative indicators;

• a backstop of 30 days past due.

IMPROVEMENT IN CREDIT RISK PROFILE

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in 
credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on 
an instrument returns to being measured as 12-month ECL.

The Group has defined below criteria in accordance with 
regulatory guidelines to assess any improvement in the credit 
risk profile which will result into upgrading of customers 
moving from Stage 3 to Stage 2 and from Stage 2 to Stage 1.

• Significant decrease in credit risk will be upgraded stage-
wise (one stage at a time) from Stage 3 to Stage 2 after 
and from Stage 2 to Stage 1 after meeting the curing 
period of at least 12 months.

• Restructured cases will be upgraded if repayments of 3 
instalments (for quarterly instalments) have been made 
or 12 months (for instalments longer than quarterly) 
curing period is met.

DEFINITION OF DEFAULT 

The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when:
• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to 

the Bank in full without recourse by the Bank to actions 
such as realising security (if any is held); 

• the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any 
material credit obligation to the Bank; or

• it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure 
the asset as a result of bankruptcy due to the borrower's 
inability to pay its credit obligations. 

Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the 
customer has breached an advised limit or been advised of a 
limit smaller than the current amount outstanding.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Bank 
considers indicators that are:

• qualitative - e.g. breaches of covenant;
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• quantitative - e.g. overdue status and non-payment on 
another obligation of the same issuer to the Bank; and

• based on data developed internally and obtained from 
external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument 
is in default and their significance may vary over time to 
reflect changes in circumstances. 

PRESENTATION OF ALLOWANCE FOR ECL IN THE 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of 
financial position as follows:

• financial assets measured at amortised cost: (as a deduction 
from the gross carrying amount of the assets);

• where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and 
an undrawn component, and the Group cannot identify 
the ECL on the loan commitment component separately 
from those on the drawn component: the Group presents 
a combined loss allowance for both components. The 
combined amount is presented as deduction from the 
gross carrying amount of the drawn component. 

• debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is 
recognised in the statement of financial position because 
the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. 
However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss.

4.5 Definition of fair value 

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date in the principal 
or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which 
the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability 
reflects its non-performance risk. 

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an 
instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that 
instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for 
the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and 
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses 
valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen 
valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market 
participants would take into account in pricing a transaction. 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on 
initial recognition is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair 
value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines 
that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction 
price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in 

an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a 
valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged 
to be insignificant in relation to the difference, then the financial 
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer 
the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the 
transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in 
profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument 
but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by 
observable market data or the transaction is closed out. 

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. 
a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable on 
demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount 
could be required to be paid. 

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value 
hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which the 
change has occurred.

• The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 
with standard terms and conditions and traded on active 
liquid markets is determined with reference to quoted 
market prices;

• The fair value of other financial assets and financial 
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) is determined 
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models 
based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from 
observable current market transactions and dealer quotes 
for similar instruments; and

• The fair value of derivative instruments is calculated using 
quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, use is made 
of discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield 
curve for the duration of the instruments for non-optional 
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional derivatives.

4.6 Investment properties

Investment properties are held to earn rental income and/
or capital appreciation. Investment properties include cost of 
initial purchase, developments transferred from property under 
development, subsequent cost of development, and fair value 
adjustments. Investment properties are reported at valuation 
based on fair value at the end of the reporting period. The 
fair value is determined on a periodic basis by independent 
professional valuers. Fair value adjustments on investment 
property are included in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss in the period in which these gains or losses arise.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they 
have been disposed of or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic 
benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss in the period of derecognition.
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Transfers are made to or from investment property only when 
there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property 
to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent 
accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If 
owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the 
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy 
stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of 
change in use.

4.7 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation 
of assets, over their estimated useful lives using the straight-
line method as follows:
 Years

Buildings 20 - 40

Furniture and office equipment 2 - 6

Installation, partitions and decorations 3 - 4

Leasehold improvements 5 - 10

Motor vehicles 3

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss statement 
when incurred.

Gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset at that date and is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Capital work-in-progress is carried at cost, less any accumulated 
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying 
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets commences 
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

4.8 Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and 
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their 
fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in 
a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation 

is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are 
reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

Amortisation is charged so as to write off the cost of intangible 
assets, over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line 
method as follows:
 Years

Banking license Indefinite

Legal corporate setup in Lebanon 10

Customer base 10

Branch network 10

4.9 Impairment of tangible and intangibles

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangibles to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the assets is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case 
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, such that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal 
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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4.10   Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire (including 
expiry arising from a modification with substantially different 
terms), or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another 
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

In the case where the financial asset is derecognised, the loss 
allowances for ECL is remeasured at the date of derecognition 
to determine the net carrying amount of the asset at that date. 
The difference between this revised carrying amount and the 
fair value of the new financial asset with the new terms will lead 
to a gain or loss on derecognition. The new financial asset will 
have a loss allowance measured based on 12-month ECL except 
in the rare occasions where the new loan is considered to be 
originated credit impaired. This applies only in the case where 
the fair value of the new loan is recognised at a significant 
discount to its revised par amount because there remains a high 
risk of default which has not been reduced by the modification. 
The Group monitors credit risk of modified financial assets by 
evaluating qualitative and quantitative information, such as if 
the borrower is in past due status under the new terms.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part 
that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration 
received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative 
gain / loss allocated to it that had been recognised in OCI is 
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any cumulative gain / loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity 
investment securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on derecognition 
of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets 
that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the 
Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

4.11   Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net in 
the consolidated financial position only when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and when 
the Group intends to settle either on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when 
permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains and losses 

arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Group 
trading activity.

The Group is party to a number of arrangements, including 
master netting agreements, that give it the right to offset 
financial assets and financial liabilities but where it does 
not intend to settle the amounts net or simultaneously and 
therefore the assets and liabilities concerned are presented on 
a gross basis.

4.12  Assets acquired in settlement of debt

The Group often acquires real estate and other collateral in 
settlement of certain loans and advances. Such real estate and 
other collateral are stated at the lower of the net realisable 
value of the loans and advances and the current fair value 
of such assets at the date of acquisition. Gains or losses on 
disposal and unrealised losses on revaluation are recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.13   Derivative financial instruments

A derivative is a financial instrument whose value changes in 
response to an underlying variable, that requires little or no 
initial investment and that is settled at a future date.

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate 
risks, including forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate 
swaps and currency swaps.

All derivatives are carried at their fair values as assets where 
the fair values are positive and as liabilities where the fair 
values are negative.

Fair values are generally obtained by reference to quoted 
market prices, discounted cash flow models and recognised 
pricing models as appropriate.

Hedge Accounting
The Bank may designate a recognised asset or liability, a 
firm commitment, highly probable forecast transaction or 
net investment of a foreign operation into a formal hedge 
accounting relationship with a derivative that has been entered 
to manage interest rate and/or foreign exchange risks present 
in the hedged item. The Bank continues to apply the hedge 
accounting requirements of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, the Group classifies 
hedges into two categories: (a) fair value hedges, which hedge 
the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset 
or liability; and (b) cash flow hedges, which hedge exposure 
to variability in cash flows that are either attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability, or 
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a highly probable forecasted transaction that will affect future 
reported net income.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, it is required that the 
hedge should be expected to be highly effective, i.e. the changes 
in fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument should 
effectively offset corresponding changes in the hedged item and 
should be reliably measurable. At inception of the hedge, the risk 
management objectives and strategies are documented including 
the identification of the hedging instrument, the related hedged 
item, the nature of risk being hedged, and how the Group will 
assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. Subsequently, 
the hedge is required to be assessed and determined to be an 
effective hedge on an ongoing basis.

FAIR VALUE HEDGES

Where a hedging relationship is designated as a fair value hedge, 
the hedged item is adjusted for the change in fair value in respect 
of the risk being hedged. Gains or losses on the re-measurement 
of both the derivative and the hedged item are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fair value adjustments 
relating to the hedging instrument are allocated to the same 
consolidated statement of profit or loss category as the related 
hedged item. Any ineffectiveness is also recognised in the 
same consolidated statement of profit or loss category as the 
related hedged item. If the derivative expires, is sold, terminated, 
exercised, no longer meets the criteria for fair value hedge 
accounting, or the designation is revoked, hedge accounting is 
discontinued. Any adjustment up to that point to a hedged item 
for which the effective interest method is used, is amortised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as part of the 
recalculated effective interest rate over the period to maturity.

CASH FLOW HEDGES

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives 
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are 
recognised in the cash flow hedging reserve in equity. The 
ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as trading revenue/
loss. Amounts accumulated in equity are transferred to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the periods in which 
the hedged item affects profit or loss. However, when the 
forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of 
a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the cumulative 
gains or losses previously deferred in equity are transferred 
from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost 
of the asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge 
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the cumulative 
gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income remain 
in equity until the forecast transaction is recognised, in the case 
of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, or until the 
forecast transaction affects the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
the cumulative gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive 
income are immediately transferred to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and classified as trading revenue/loss.

DERIVATIVES THAT DO NOT QUALIFY FOR  
HEDGE ACCOUNTING

All gains and losses from changes in the fair values of derivatives 
that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised 
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as 
trading revenue/loss. However, the gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair values of derivatives that are managed in 
conjunction with financial instruments designated at fair value 
are included in net income from financial instruments designated 
at fair value under other non-interest revenue/loss.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other 
non-financial host contracts are treated as separate derivatives 
when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to 
those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried 
at fair value with unrealised gains or losses reported in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.14  Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at 
FVTPL’ or ‘amortised cost’. The Group initially recognises financial 
liabilities such as deposits and debt securities issued on the 
date at which they are originated. All other financial liabilities 
(including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or 
loss) are initially recognised on the trade date at which the Group 
becomes party to the contractual provision of the instrument.
 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified at FVTPL where the financial 
liability is either held for trading or it is designated at FVTPL 
and measured at fair value. Determination is made at initial 
recognition and is not reassessed. 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any 
gains / losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or 
loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging 
relationship. The net gain / loss recognised in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the 
financial liability.

However, for non-derivative financial liabilities that are designated 
as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the 
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk 
of that liability is recognised in OCI, unless the recognition of 
the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in OCI would 
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. 
The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is 
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to 
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a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in OCI are not 
subsequently reclassified to consolidated statement of profit 
or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings upon 
derecognition of the financial liability.

In making the determination of whether recognising changes 
in the liability’s credit risk in OCI will create or enlarge an 
accounting mismatch in profit or loss, the Group assesses 
whether it expects that the effects of changes in the liability’s 
credit risk will be offset in profit or loss by a change in the 
fair value of another financial instrument measured at FVTPL. 
This determination is made at initial recognition.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 40.

The Bank has designated certain financial liabilities as at FVTPL 
in either of the following circumstances:

- the liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally  
 on a fair value basis; or

- the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an  
 accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTIZED COST 

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial 
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on 
an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period.
 
DE-RECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished - 
that is when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expired.

4.15   Customers’ deposits 

Customers’ deposits are initially measured at fair value which 
is normally consideration received net of directly attributable 
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at their 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

4.16   Business combinations 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted 
for using the purchase method. The cost of the business 
combination is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, 
at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in 

exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly 
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that 
meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition 
date; except for non-current assets (or disposal banks) that are 
classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are 
recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and 
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the 
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest 
in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the 
business combination, the excess is recognised immediately  
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The interest of non-controlling shareholders in the acquiree 
is initially measured at the non-controlling shareholder’s 
proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities recognised.

4.17   Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and 
is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to 
each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units 
to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the 
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other 
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount 
of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for 
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

4.18   Employees’ end-of-service benefits

The Group provides end of service benefits for its expatriate 
employees in accordance with U.A.E. Labour Law. The 
entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ 
length of service and completion of a minimum service period. 
The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the 
period of employment.

Pension and national insurance contributions for the U.A.E. 
citizens are made by the Group in accordance with Federal Law 
No. 2 of 2000.
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4.19   Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of 
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the 
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle 
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities, which include certain guarantees and letters 
of credit pledged as collateral security, are possible obligations 
that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence, or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the Group’s control. Contingent 
liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements but are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

4.20   Acceptances 

Acceptances arise when the Group is under an obligation to 
make payments against documents drawn under letters of 
credit. Acceptances specify the amount of money, the date 
and the person to which the payment is due. After acceptance, 
the instrument becomes an unconditional liability (time draft) 
of the Group and is therefore recognised as a financial liability 
in the consolidated statement of financial position with a 
corresponding contractual right of reimbursement from the 
customer recognized as a financial asset.

Acceptances have been considered within the scope of IFRS 
9 – Financial Instruments and continued to be recognised as 
a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial 
position with a contractual right of reimbursement from the 
customer as a financial asset.

Acceptances are recognised as financial liabilities in the 
consolidated statement of financial position with a contractual 
right of reimbursement from the customer as a financial asset. 
Therefore, commitments with respect to acceptances have 
been accounted for as financial assets and financial liabilities.

4.21   Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to 

make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it 
incurs because a specified party fails to meet its obligation when 
due in accordance with the contractual terms.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at their fair value, 
which is the premium received on issuance. The received 
premium is amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. 
The guarantee liability (the notional amount) is subsequently 
recognised at the higher of this amortised amount and the 
present value of any expected payments (when a payment under 
guarantee has become probable). 

4.22   Leasing 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective 
approach and therefore the comparative information has not 
been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17.

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract 
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 
whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.
 
This policy is applied to contracts entered into (or changed) on 
or after 1 January 2019.

i) Group acting as a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that 
contains a lease component, the Group allocates consideration 
in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its 
relative standalone price. However, for leases of branches and 
office premises the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and accounts for the lease and non-lease 
components as a single lease component.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability 
at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is 
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove any 
improvements made to branches or office premises.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the 
straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted 
for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of 
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
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date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if 
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental 
borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental 
borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by analysing 
its borrowings from various external sources and makes  
certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type 
of asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease 
liability comprise the following:

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; variable 
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially 
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date; 
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; 
and the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group 
is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional 
renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease 
unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an 
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the 
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, 
if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 
purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised 
in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding 
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property and 
equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘other liabilities’ in the statement 
of financial position.

SHORT-TERM LEASES AND LEASES OF  
LOW-VALUE ASSETS
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term 
leases, including leases of IT equipment. The Group recognises 
the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

ii) Group acting as a lessor 

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a 
lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative 
stand-alone selling prices.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception 
whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment 
of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. 
If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then 
it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group 
considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the 
major part of the economic life of the asset.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

For contracts entered into before 1 January 2019, the Group 
determined whether the arrangement was or contained a lease 
based on the assessment of whether:

• fulfilment of the arrangement was dependent on the  
use of a specific asset or assets; and

• the arrangement had conveyed a right to use the asset.
      
i.  As a lessee  

The Group did not have any finance leases under IAS 17.
      
Assets held under other leases were classified as operating leases 
and were not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial 
position. Payments made under operating leases were recognised 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
Lease incentives received were recognised as an integral part of 
the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.
      
ii. As a lessor

When the Group acted as a lessor, it determined at lease inception 
whether each lease was a finance lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group made an overall assessment of 
whether the lease transferred substantially all of the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this 
was the case, then the lease was a finance lease; if not, then it 
was an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group 
considered certain indicators such as whether the lease was for 
the major part of the economic life of the asset.

4.23  Revenue and expense recognition 

4.23.1 Interest income and expense
Interest income and interest expense are recognised in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or 
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group 
estimates the future cash flows considering all contractual terms 
of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses.
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The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transactions 
costs, fees and points paid or received that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a 
financial asset or liability.

Effective interest rate 
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using 
the effective interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts trough. The expected life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

- the amortised cost of the financial liability

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial 
instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired 
assets, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not ECL. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, 
a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using 
estimated future cash flows including ECL.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction 
cost and fees and points paid or received that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include 
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issuance of a financial asset or financial liability.

Calculation of interest income and expense 
The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial 
liability is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset or 
a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, 
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit impaired) or 
to the amortised cost of the liability. The effective interest rate 
is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows 
of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in market 
rates of interest. The effective interest rate is also revised for 
fair value hedge adjustments at the date amortisation of the 
hedge adjustment begins.

However, for financial assets that have become credit  
impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income 
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the 
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer 
credit impaired, then the calculation of interest income 
reverts to the gross basis.

For financial assets that were credit impaired on initial recognition, 
interest income is calculated by applying the credit-adjusted 
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The 
calculation of interest income does not revert to a gross basis, 
even if the credit risk of the asset improves. 

4.23.2 Fees and commission 
Fee income, which is not an integral part of the effective 
interest rate of a financial instrument, is earned from a diverse 
range of services provided by the Group to its customers, and 
are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers’. Under the IFRS 15, fee income is 
measured by the Group based on the consideration specified 
in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when 
it transfers control over a product or service to a customer.

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial 
instrument in the Group's financial statements may be partially 
in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If 
this is the case, then the Group first applies IFRS 9 to separate 
and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of 
IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual.

Fee income is accounted for as follows:

• income earned on the execution of a significant act is 
recognised as revenue when the act is completed (for 
example, fees arising from negotiating, or participating in 
the negotiation of a transaction for a third-party, such as an 
arrangement for the acquisition of shares or other securities);

• income earned from the provision of services is recognised 
as revenue as the services are provided (for example, asset 
management, portfolio and other management advisory 
and service fees); and

• other fees and commission income and expense are 
recognised as the related services are performed or received.

Fee income which forms an integral part of the effective interest 
rate of a financial instrument is recognised as an adjustment to 
the effective interest rate (for example, certain loan commitment 
fees) and recorded in ‘Interest income’.

4.23.3 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss when the Group's right to receive such  
income is established. Usually this is the ex-dividend date for 
equity securities.

Presentation
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method 
presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI includes:

• Interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost;

• Interest on debt instruments measured at FVOCI;

• The effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying 
hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of 
variability in interest cash flows, in the same period as the 
hedged cash flows affect interest income/expense; and 
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• The effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying 
hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of 
interest rate risk 

Other interest income presented in the statement of profit or 
loss and OCI includes interest income on finance leases.

Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss 
and OCI includes:

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and 

• The effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying 
hedging derivatives designated ii cash flows hedges of 
variability in interest cash flows; in the same period as the 
hedged cash flows affect interest income/ expense

Interest income and expenses on all trading assets and liabilities 
were considered to be incidental to the Groups trading operations 
and were presented together with all other changes in the fair 
value of trading assets and liabilities in net trading income.

Interest income and expense on other financial assets and 
financial liabilities carried at FVTPL were presented in net 
income from other financial instruments at FVTPL.

4.24   Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional 
currency at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at 
the rate of exchange prevailing at the consolidated statement 
of financial position date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated into the functional currency using rate of exchange at 
the date of initial transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into 
the functional currency using the rate of exchange at the date 
the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences are 
generally recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at FVTPL, the foreign exchange 
component is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. For financial assets measured at FVTOCI any foreign 
exchange component is recognised in other comprehensive income.

For foreign currency denominated debt instruments measured 
at amortised cost, the foreign exchange gains and losses are 
determined based on the amortised cost of the asset and are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.25   Foreign operations

In the consolidated financial statements, the assets, including 
related goodwill where applicable, and liabilities of branches, 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates whose functional 

currency is not AED, are translated into the Group’s presentation 
currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date. The results of branches, 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates whose functional 
currency is not AED are translated into AED at the average rates 
of exchange for the reporting period. Exchange differences arising 
from the retranslation of opening foreign currency net investments, 
and exchange differences arising from retranslation of the result 
for the reporting period from the average rate to the exchange rate 
prevailing at the period end, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity in the ‘foreign exchange reserve’. 

On disposal or partial disposal (i.e. of associates or jointly 
controlled entities not involving a change of accounting basis) 
of a foreign operation, exchange differences relating thereto 
and previously recognised in reserves are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss on proportionate basis 
except in the case of partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a 
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate 
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to 
non-controlling interests and are not recognised in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition 
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

4.26   Fiduciary activities

The Group acts as trustee/manager and in other capacities that 
result in holding or placing of assets in a fiduciary capacity on 
behalf of trusts or other institutions. Such assets and income 
arising thereon are not included in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements as they are not assets of the Group.

4.27   Taxation

Provision is made for current and deferred taxes arising from 
operating results of overseas subsidiary in accordance with 
the fiscal regulations of the respective country in which the 
subsidiary operates.

4.28   Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. 
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss because of items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items 
that are never taxable or deductible.

4.29   Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in 
the computation of taxable profit.



71

Annual Report 2019

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the 
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising 
from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and 
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Such 
estimates are necessarily based on assumptions about several 
factors involving varying degrees of judgment and uncertainty 
and actual results may therefore differ, resulting in future 
changes in these estimates.

5. USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS  

5.1 Critical judgements in applying the Group’s 
accounting policies

In particular, considerable management judgment is required in 
respect of the following issues:

Financial asset classification
Assessment of the business model within which the assets are 
held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the 
financial asset are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding.

Business model assessment: Classification and measurement 
of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI and 
the business model test. The Group determines the business 
model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are 

managed together to achieve a particular business objective. 
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant 
evidence including how the performance of the assets is 
evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect 
the performance of the assets and how these are managed 
and how the managers of the assets are compensated. The 
Group monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost 
or fair value through other comprehensive income that are 
derecognised prior to their maturity to understand the reason 
for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with 
the objective of the business for which the asset was held. 
Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of 
whether the business model for which the remaining financial 
assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not 
appropriate whether there has been a change in business model 
and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets.

Significant increase in credit risk 
As explained in note 4.4.3, ECL are measured as an allowance 
equal to 12-month ECL for Stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL 
assets for Stage 2 or Stage 3 assets. An asset moves to 
Stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes 
a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the 
credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group 
takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and 
supportable forward-looking information.

Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics
When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial 
instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics. 
Refer to note 4.4.3 for details of the characteristics considered in 
this judgement. The Group monitors the appropriateness of the 
credit risk characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether 
they continue to be similar. This is required in order to ensure 
that should credit risk characteristics change there is appropriate 
re-segmentation of the assets. This may result in new portfolios 
being created or assets moving to an existing portfolio that better 
reflects the similar credit risk characteristics of that group of 
assets. Re-segmentation of portfolios and movement between 
portfolios is more common when there is a significant increase 
in credit risk (or when that significant increase reverses) and so 
assets move from 12-month to lifetime ECLs, or vice versa, but it 
can also occur within portfolios that continue to be measured on 
the same basis of 12-month or lifetime ECLs but the amount of 
ECL changes because the credit risk of the portfolios differ.

Models and assumptions used 
The Group uses various models and assumptions in measuring fair 
value of financial assets as well as in estimating ECL. Judgement 
is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type 
of asset, as well as for determining the assumptions used in these 
models, including assumptions that relate to key drivers of credit 
risk. See note 4.4.3 for more details on ECL.
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Going concern
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or 
CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to 
sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations 
are corroborated by other available fair value indicators.

5.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are key estimations that have been used in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies:
• Establishing the number and relative weightings of 

forward-looking scenarios for each type of product / 
market and determining the forward looking information 
relevant to each scenario: When measuring ECL the 

Group uses reasonable and supportable forward looking 
information, which is based on assumptions for the future 
movement of different economic drivers and how these 
drivers will affect each other.

• Probability of default: PD constitutes a key input in 
measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of 
default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which 
includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of 
future conditions.

• Loss Given Default: LGD is an estimate of the loss arising 
on default. It is based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due and those that the lender 
would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows 
from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

• Fair value measurement and valuation process: In 
estimating the fair value of a financial asset or a liability, 
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is 
available. Where such Level 1 inputs are not available the 
Group uses valuation models to determine the fair value 
of its financial instruments. Refer to note 40 for more 
details on fair value measurement.

6.  CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

(a) The analysis of the Group’s cash and balances with central banks is as follows:

(b) The geographical analysis of the cash and balances with central banks is as follows:

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Cash on hand 72,105 57,144
Statutory deposits (note 6.1) 1,084,851 1,069,087
Current accounts 2,421,579 858,287
Certificates of deposits 2,528,123 2,660,207
  
 6,106,658 4,644,725
Expected credit loss (297,731) (8,382)
  
 5,808,927 4,636,343
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Banks abroad  2,648,408 1,725,320
Banks in the U.A.E. 3,458,250 2,919,405
  
 6,106,658 4,644,725
Expected credit loss (297,731) (8,382)
  
 5,808,927 4,636,343
 ========= =========
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6.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The Group is required to maintain statutory deposits with Central Bank of UAE and Central Bank of Lebanon on demand, time and 
other deposits as per the statutory requirements. The statutory deposits with the Central Banks are not available to finance the day 
to day operations of the Group. However, as per notice 4310/2008, the Central Bank of the U.A.E. has allowed banks to borrow up 
to 100% of their AED and US$ reserve requirement limit. As at 31 December 2019, the statutory deposits with the Central Bank 
of the U.A.E. amounted to AED 421 million (31 December 2018: AED 488 million).

The Group entered into reverse-repo agreements under which bonds with fair value of AED 460 million (31 December 2018 - 
AED 850 million) were received as collateral against cash placements. The risks and rewards relating to these bonds remain with 
the counter parties.

7.  DEPOSITS AND BALANCES DUE FROM BANKS 

(a) The analysis of the Group’s deposits and balances due from banks is as follows:

8. REVERSE-REPO PLACEMENTS 

The analysis of the Group’s repurchase agreements is as follows:

(b) The geographical analysis of the deposits and balances due from banks is as follows:

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Demand 206,065 276,592
Time 154,892 232,074
  
 360,957 508,666
Expected credit loss (10,670) (881)
  
 350,287 507,785
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Banks abroad  - -
Banks in the U.A.E. 457,713 849,534
  
 457,713 849,534
Expected credit loss (422) (346)
  
 457,291 849,188
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Banks abroad  321,711 426,731
Banks in the U.A.E. 39,246 81,935
  
 360,957 508,666
Expected credit loss (10,670) (881)
  
 350,287 507,785
 ========= =========
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9.  LOANS AND ADVANCES, NET

(a) The analysis of the Group’s loans and advances measured at amortised cost is as follows:

(b) The geographic analysis of the gross loans and advances of the Group is as follows:

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Overdrafts  7,301,407 7,192,041
Commercial loans 8,731,786 9,355,962
Bills discounted 1,977,841 2,046,182
Other advances 1,569,344 707,229
  
Gross amount of loans and advances 19,580,378 19,301,414
Less: Allowance for impairment (1,844,622) (2,000,309)
  
Net loans and advances 17,735,756 17,301,105
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Loans and advances resident in the U.A.E. 16,307,624 16,591,736
Loans and advances non-resident in Lebanon 2,212,732 2,265,168
Loans and advances non-resident others 1,060,022 444,510
  
 19,580,378 19,301,414
 ========= =========
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(c) An analysis of changes in the gross carrying and the corresponding ECL allowances is as follows:

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
    
Gross carrying as at 1 January 2019  9,967,492 7,208,338 2,125,584 19,301,414
Net transfers between stages  1,443,210   (2,297,721) 854,511  -  
Net additions / (repayments) 1,358,900   (766,696)  (81,691) 510,513
Amounts written off - (476) (231,073) (231,549)
    
Gross amount of loans and advances  
as at 31 December 2019 12,769,602 4,143,445 2,667,331 19,580,378
    

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
    
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019  21,327 735,776 1,243,206 2,000,309
Net transfers between stages  224,886  (273,250)  48,364  -  
Net (reversals) / impairment charge 165,088 151,847 (49,255) 267,680
Write backs on loans (2,013) (7,074) (182,731) (191,818)
Amounts written off - (101) (231,448) (231,549)
    
Closing balance 31 December 2019 409,288 607,198 828,136 1,844,622
 ========= ========= ========= =========

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
    
Gross carrying as at 1 January 2018  8,986,922 7,320,059 3,131,189 19,438,170
Net transfers between stages  447,156 254,562 (701,718) -   
Net additions / (repayments) 534,709 (366,283) 186,498 354,924
Amounts written off (1,295) - (490,385) (491,680)
    
Gross amount of loans and advances  
as at 31 December 2018 9,967,492 7,208,338 2,125,584 19,301,414
    

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
    
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2018  40,025 353,840 1,835,511 2,229,376
Net transfers between stages  (64,253) 52,605 11,648 -   
Net (reversals) / impairment charge 160,919 335,347 (108,220) 388,046
Recoveries (114,069) (6,016) (5,348) (125,433)
Amounts written off (1,295) - (490,385) (491,680)
    
Closing balance 31 December 2018 21,327 735,776 1,243,206 2,000,309
 ========= ========= ========= =========
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(d) IFRS 9 reserve

In accordance with CBUAE circular, in case where provision under CBUAE guidance exceeds provision under IFRS 9, the excess is 
required to be transferred to IFRS 9 reserve. The details of the same are below:

 Bank Bank
 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Impairment reserve – Specific 
Specific provisions and interest in suspense under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE 1,482,602  1,389,130
Stage 3 provisions under IFRS 9 1,559,341 1,252,614
  
Specific provision transferred to the impairment reserve - 136,516
 ========= =========

 Bank Bank
 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Impairment reserve – Collective 
Collective provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE 293,729  719,927
Stage 1 and Stage 2 provisions under IFRS 9 100,620 706,186
  
Collective provision transferred to the impairment reserve 193,109 13,741
 ========= =========

(e) The composition of the loans and advances portfolio by industry is as follows:

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Economic sector  
Trading  4,931,417 5,195,663
Services 4,627,290 5,124,260
Manufacturing 2,813,336 2,709,191
Personal loans for commercial purposes  2,509,787 2,677,525
Government 1,798,173 1,406,793
Construction  1,132,253 1,236,329
Mining and quarrying  698,298 132,359
Transport and communication 330,665 313,278
Financial institutions  259,792 265,242
Personal loans for individual purposes 177,187 115,881
Agriculture 78,754 70,774
Other 223,426 54,119
  
 19,580,378 19,301,414
Less: Allowance for impairment (1,844,622) (2,000,309)
  
  17,735,756 17,301,105
 ========= =========
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(f) The composition of the non-performing loans and advances portfolio by industry is as follows:

All of the quoted investments (majority in 2018) are listed on the securities exchanges in the U.A.E. (Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange 
and Dubai Financial Market). 

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Economic sector  
Trading 1,454,327 1,451,643
Manufacturing 917,970 333,233
Services  163,257 164,643
Construction  55,419 41,948
Personal loans for commercial purposes  41,884 122,786
Financial institutions 18,886 - 
Personal loans for individual purposes 8,340 7,947
Transport and communication 7,248 3,384
  
Total non-performing loans 2,667,331 2,125,584
 ========= =========

  2019 2018
  AED’000 AED’000

Other financial assets measured at fair value  
(i) Investments measured at FVTPL  
 Quoted equity  159,284 143,446
   
  159,284 143,446 
   
(ii) Investments measured at FVTOCI  
 Quoted equity 127,183 160,069 
Unquoted equity 209,252 323,239 
Debt Securities 123,759 190,565
   
  460,194 673,873
   
Total other financial assets measured at fair value 619,478 817,319
   

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost  
Debt securities 486,484 675,585
Expected credit losses (34,265) (4,031)
   
  452,219 671,554
   
Total other financial assets 1,071,697 1,488,873
  ========= =========

10.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(a) The analysis of the Group’s other financial assets is as follows::
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(b) The composition of the other financial assets by geography is as follows:
 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

United Arab Emirates  586,962 693,747
Middle East (other than G.C.C. countries) 478,358 769,040
Europe 40,642 30,117
  
 1,105,962  1,492,904
Expected credit losses (34,265) (4,031)
  
 1,071,697 1,488,873
 ========= =========

  Commercial 
 Plots of land and residential 
 in the U.A.E units in the U.A.E. Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
   
Fair value at 1 January 2018 34,018 550,840 584,858
Decrease in fair value during the year (3,968) (8,170) (12,138)
Additions during the year 11 35,742 35,753
   
Fair value at 31 December 2018 30,061 578,412 608,473
   
(Decrease) / Increase in fair value during the year (2,532) 19,885 17,353
Additions during the year - 130,211 130,211
   
Fair value at 31 December 2019 27,529 728,508 756,037
 ========= ========= =========

(c) Other financial assets measured at FVTOCI are strategic equity investments that are not held to benefit from changes in  
 their fair value and are not held for trading. The management believes therefore that designating these investments as at  
 FVTOCI provides a more meaningful presentation of its medium to long-term interest in its investments rather than fair  
 valuing through profit and loss.

 During the year ended 31 December 2019, 13.8 million shares of equity securities were acquired at an amount of  
 AED 22 million (2018: 25 million shares of equity securities were acquired at an amount of AED 23 million.).

(d) During the year ended 31 December 2019, dividends received from financial assets measured at FVTOCI amounting to  
 AED 20 million (2018: AED 15 million) have been recognised as investment income in the consolidated statement of  
 profit or loss.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties is estimated annually by considering recent prices for similar properties in 
the same location and similar conditions, with adjustments to reflect any changes in the nature, location or economic conditions 
since the date of the transactions that occurred at these prices. 

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

11.  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

Details of investment properties are as follows:
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 Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Building  Sales Comparison Method  Comparable transactions
 Income Capitalization Approach  Current market price of similar

Land  Sales Comparison Method Discount rate
 Comparable and Residual Method Cash inflows
  Cash outflows

Properties under development  Discounted Cash Flow Approach Cost of construction 
  Developer’s profit
  Financing cost

The recoverable amount of the assets acquired in the business combination (cash generating unit) described above is determined 
based on fair value less cost of disposal which is determined to be higher than the asset’s carrying value using the market approach.

As at 31 December 2019, the valuations were carried out by RICS certified professional valuers not related to the Group who hold 
recognised and relevant professional qualifications and have recent experience in the location and category of the investment 
properties being valued.

All investments properties have been classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

As at 31 December 2019, fair value of the properties is based on the valuations performed by third party valuers and all are level 
3 under fair value hierarchy. The valuers are accredited with recognised and relevant professional qualifications and with recent 
experience in the location and category of investment properties being valued. The fair values have been determined based on 
varying valuation models depending on the intended use of the investment properties; in accordance with the Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation Standards.

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on investment properties as at 31 December 2019:

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Goodwill 184,733 184,733
  
Other intangibles  
   Banking license 18,365 18,365
   Legal corporate setup in Lebanon - 4,299
   Customer base 7,496  8,742
   Branch network - 365
  
 25,861 31,771
  
 210,594 216,504
Impairment  (184,733) - 
  
Total 25,861 216,504
 ========= =========

12.  GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

The analysis of the Group’s goodwill and other intangibles is as follows:

Emirates Lebanon Bank S.A.L

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share in the net identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of a Lebanese branch of a multinational bank acquired in 2008. Goodwill and other intangibles 
are denominated in Lebanese Lira. 

During the year, as a result of the political uncertainty in Lebanon, the Group recorded an impairment of AED 274 million to Goodwill. 
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  Legal     
  corporate
 Banking setup in Customer Branch
 license Lebanon base network Total
Other intangibles AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Balance as at 1 January 2018 18,365 8,593 9,991 732 37,681
Amortisation in 2018 - (4,294) (1,249) (367) (5,910)
     
Balance as at 31 December 2018 18,365 4,299 8,742 365 31,771
Amortisation in 2019 - (4,299) (1,246) (365) (5,910)
     
Balance as at 31 December 2019 18,365 - 7,496 - 25,861
 ========= ========= ========= ========= =========

Muwaileh Capital FZC

(i) On 26 April 2017, the Bank acquired 90% of Muwaileh Capital FZC. A Sharjah Airport International Free Zone company.  
 The acquisition was in cash and the effective date acquisition was 31 May 2017. The operations of Muwaileh Capital FZC  
 have been fully transferred to the Bank on that date. The acquisition is accounted for using the purchase method of  
 accounting, and the financial statements of Muwaileh Capital FZC have been consolidated.

 As per the sales and purchase agreement, the purchase price was finalized based on the completion of the due diligence  
 and the negotiations for the determination of the final net assets fair value. The difference between the consideration paid  
 and the fair value of the net assets at the transaction date has been booked under goodwill. The amount recognized in  
 goodwill at the transaction date amounted to AED 110.73 million

 The transaction has been accounted for during the second quarter of 2017 as follows:

El Capital FZC

(ii)  On 14 December 2016, the Board of Directors of the Bank decided to acquire El Capital FZC that owns 20% of share capital  
 of Emirates Lebanon Bank S.A.L.

 A per the sales and purchase agreement, the purchase price was finalized based on the completion of the due diligence and  
 the negotiations for the determination of the final net assets fair value. The difference between the consideration paid and  
 the fair value of the net assets at the transaction date has been booked under goodwill out of which 40.23% related to some  
 Bank of Sharjah board members and 7.54% related to some Bank of Sharjah management.

 The amount recognized in goodwill at the transaction date amounted to AED 88.83 million.

 The transaction has been accounted for last quarter of 2017 as follows:

 Net Carrying Value
 AED’000

Consideration paid 225,000
Fair value of net assets acquired (114,274)
 
Goodwill 110,726
 =========

 Net Carrying Value
 AED’000

Consideration paid 305,777
Fair value of net assets acquired (216,951)
 
Goodwill 88,826
Impairment (88,826)
 
Total -
 =========

The movement on other intangible assets during the year is as follows:
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13.  OTHER ASSETS
 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Acceptances – contra (Note 20) 765,271 732,922
Receivable from sale of property  71,220 -
Clearing receivables and accrued income 63,492 65,990
Interest receivable 37,616 42,916
Prepayments 10,521 15,587
Other 51,991 36,975
  
 1,000,111 894,390
  
Expected credit losses (5,280) -
  
 994,831 894,390
 ========= =========

Assets acquired in settlement of debt 

Assets acquired in settlement of debt amounting to AED 4,044 
million (2018: AED 2,113 million) are net of AED 101 million 
unrealized losses for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 
AED 13 million). Of this amount AED 4,035 million (2018:  
AED 2,088 million) pertains to the properties and plots of lands 
acquired in settlement of debt. Fair valuations of the properties 
and plots of land were carried out by RICS certified independent 
valuers having appropriate professional qualifications and are 
based on recent experience in the location and category of the 
properties and plots of land being valued. The fair value of those 
properties and plots of land as at 31 December 2019 amounted 
to AED 4,035 million (2018: AED 2,108 million).

The Group reports under other assets, positive fair value of 
derivative contracts used by the Group in the ordinary course 
of business. Refer to Note 14 below for further details about 
the nature and type of derivative contracts utilised by the 
Group, together with the notional amounts and maturities. 

14. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

In the ordinary course of business the Group enters into various 
types of transactions that involve derivatives. A derivative 
financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties 
where payments are dependent upon movements in the price of 
one or more underlying financial instruments, reference rate, or 
index. Derivative financial instruments which the Group enters 
into include forwards and swaps.

The Group uses the following derivative financial instruments 
for both hedging and non-hedging purposes.

Forward currency transactions - Currency forwards represent 

commitments to purchase foreign and domestic currency, 
including undelivered spot transactions. 

Swap transactions – Interest rate (IRS) and cross currency 
interest rate swaps (CCIRS) are commitments to exchange 
one set of cash flows for another. CCIRS result in an economic 
exchange of currency cash flows. Exchange of principal may 
or may not take place. Under interest rate swaps, the Bank 
agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals, 
the difference between fixed-rate and floating-rate interest 
amounts calculated by reference to an agreed notional amount. 
The Group’s credit risk represents the potential cost to replace 
the swap contracts if counterparties fail to fulfil their obligation.

This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with reference to the 
current fair value. To control the level of credit risk taken, the 
Group assesses counterparties using the same techniques as 
for its lending activities, and applies cash margining with market 
counterparties to mitigate the credit risk involved.

Derivative related credit risk - Credit risk with respect 
to derivative financial instruments arises from the potential 
for a counterparty to default on its contractual obligations 
and is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that 
are favourable to the Group. The Group enters into derivative 
contracts with a number of financial institutions of good 
credit rating.

Derivatives held or issued for hedging purposes - 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments for hedging 
purposes as part of its asset and liability management activities 
in order to reduce its own exposure to fluctuations in interest 
rates and exchange rates. In all such cases the hedging 
relationship and objective, including details of the hedged item 
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and hedging instrument, are formally documented and the 
transactions are accounted for as fair value hedges. 

The following table shows the positive and negative fair values 
of derivative financial instruments, together with the notional 
amounts analysed by the term to maturity, and the nature of 
the risk being hedged.

The notional amounts, which provide an indication of the 
volumes of the transactions outstanding at the year end, 
do not necessarily reflect the amounts of future cash flows 
involved. These notional amounts, therefore, are neither 
indicative of the Group’s exposure to credit risk, which is 
generally limited to the fair value of the derivatives, nor 
market risk.

 Positive Negative Notional Within 3-12 1-5
 fair value  fair value amount 3 months months years
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
2019      

Interest rate swaps 9,838 (7,301) 2,694,073 2,546,069 - 148,004

Currency swaps 10,562 - 3,709,977 3,271,987 437,990 -

Forward foreign exchange contracts - (276) 53,372 53,372 - -

      

Total 20,400 (7,577) 6,457,422 5,871,428 437,990 148,004

 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
     

2018      

Interest rate swaps 3,223 (62,802) 3,945,518 272,518 - 3,673,000

Currency swaps 367 - 2,049,128 2,049,128 - -

Forward foreign exchange contracts - (6) 30,912 30,912 - -

      

Total 3,590 (62,808) 6,025,558 2,352,558 - 3,673,000

 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= =========

NOTIONAL AMOUNTS BY TERM TO MATURITY
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15.  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
    Leasehold  
   improvements
  Furniture installation,
 Land & and office partitions Motor
 buildings equipment and decoration vehicles Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Cost
At 1 January 2018 241,157 117,954 111,705 4,663 475,479
Additions 45,735 15,147 2,074 1,036 63,992
Disposals - (877) (104) (400) (1,381)
     
At 31 December 2018 286,892 132,224 113,675 5,299 538,090
Additions 128,518 8,936 1,760 241 139,455
Disposals (4,076) (911) (407) (169) (5,563)
     
Transfers - (321) - - (321)
     
At 31 December 2019 411,334 139,928 115,028 5,371 671,661
     

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2018 39,277 100,295 63,681 3,404 206,657
Charge for the year 42,089 11,291 8,989 686 63,055
Disposals - (561) (98) (400) (1,059)
     
At 31 December 2018 81,366 111,025 72,572 3,690 268,653
Charge for the year 17,780 9,326 6,992 764 34,862
Disposals (159) (889) (402) (169) (1,619)
Transfers - (1,155) - - (1,155)
     
At 31 December 2019 98,987 118,307 79,162 4,285 300,741
     

Net book value     
At 31 December 2019 312,347 21,621 35,866 1,086 3370,920
 ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
At 31 December 2018 240,666 21,199 41,103 1,609 304,577
 ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
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16.  SUBSIDIARIES

(a) The Bank’s interests, held directly or indirectly, in the subsidiaries are as follows:

(b) Emirates Lebanon Bank S.A.L (fully owned by the Group, 80% by Bank of Sharjah PJSC and 20% by EL Capital FZC) summarised  
 statements of financial position, comprehensive income and cash flows as at and for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018: 

 2019 2018

Emirates Lebanon Bank S.A.L.  100% 100% 1965 2008 Lebanon Financial institution

El Capital FZC 100% 100% 2007 2017 U.A.E. Investment in a  
      financial institution

BOS Real Estate FZC 100% 100% 2007 2007 U.A.E. Real estate  
      development activities

BOS Capital FZC 100% 100% 2007 2007 U.A.E. Investment

Polyco General Trading L.L.C. 100% 100% 2008 2008 U.A.E. General trading

Borealis Gulf FZC 100%  100%  2010   2010 U.A.E. Investment & Real estate  
      development activities

BOS Funding Limited 100% 100% 2015 2015 Cayman Islands Financing activities

Muwaileh Capital FZC 90% 90% 2010 2017 U.A.E. Developing of real estate  
      & related activities

BOS Repos Limited 100% 100% 2018 2018 Cayman Islands Financing activities

BOS Derivatives Limited 100% 100% 2018 2018 Cayman Islands Financing activities

Name of Subsidiary
Proportion of 

ownership interest
Year of

incorporation
Year of

acquisition
Country of 

incorporation Principal activities

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Statement of financial position

Total assets 5,793,340 5,331,495
 ========= =========
Total liabilities 4,698,994 4,298,426
 ========= =========
Equity 1,094,346 1,033,069
 ========= =========
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 0 0
 ========= =========
  
Statement of comprehensive income

Interest income 364,585 312,703
 ========= =========
Profit for the year 6,538 46,500
 ========= =========
Total comprehensive (Loss) / Income (8,877)  44,160
 ========= =========

Statement of cash flows

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 540,587 25,335
Net cash flows generated from investing activities 99,779 64,507
Net cash flows generated from / (used in) financing activities 69,048 (22,038)
  
Net increase in cash flows during the year 709,414 67,804
 ========= =========
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The analysis of customers’ deposits is as follows:

The analysis of deposits and balances due to banks is as follows:

The analysis of the repo borrowing agreements is as follows:

The Group entered into repo agreements under which bonds with fair value of AED 130 million (31 December 2018 - nil) were given 
as collateral against borrowings. The risks and rewards relating to these bonds remain with the Group.

Due to banks represent due to:

17.  CUSTOMERS' DEPOSITS

18.  DEPOSITS AND BALANCES DUE TO BANKS

19.  REPO BORROWINGS

20.  OTHER LIABILITIES

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Current and other accounts 3,878,614 2,952,570
Saving accounts 1,424,628 1,595,786
Time deposits  16,022,992 15,570,813
  
 21,326,234 20,119,169
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Demand 32,307 46,853
Time 10,682 258,078
  
 42,989 304,931
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Acceptances – contra (Note 13) 765,271 732,922
Interest payable 251,915 172,668
ECL on unfunded exposure 121,820 116,729
Accrued expenses and others 110,352 88,304
Lease liabilities 98,470 -
Unearned income 68,587 97,080
Managers’ cheques 51,261 15,191
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits (Note 20.1) 45,577 44,808
  
 1,513,253 1,267,702
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Banks in the U.A.E.  130,230 -
Banks abroad - -
  
 130,230 -
 ========= =========

Banks in the U.A.E.  32,285 209,121
Banks abroad 10,704 95,810
  
 42,989 304,931
 ========= =========
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20.1  The movement in the provision for employees’ end of service benefits is as follows:
 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

At 1 January 44,808 42,569
Charged during the year 8,411 6,825
Payments during the year (7,642)  (4,586)
  
At 31 December 45,577 44,808
 ========= =========

21.  ISSUED BONDS

On 8 June 2015, the Bank raised financing by way of USD 500 million (equivalent to AED 1,836 million) in senior unsecured 
bonds (the “Bonds”) issued by BOS Funding Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank, incorporated in the Cayman Islands. 
The Bonds are fully guaranteed by the Bank, carry a fixed interest rate of 3.374% per annum payable semi-annually and are 
listed on the Irish Stock Exchange. On 18 September 2019, the Bank repurchased by way of a Public Tender Offer USD 306.81 
million of these bonds at a price of 101. 

On 28 February 2017, the Bank issued Senior Unsecured Fixed Rate Notes, totalling USD 500 million (equivalent to AED 1,836 
million) for a five year maturity at mid swaps plus 225 basis point, to yield 4.23%. The Notes were issued under the Bank’s recently 
established Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) Programme which is listed on the Irish Stock Exchange.

On 8 August 2019, the Bank issued Senior Unsecured Floating Rate Notes, totalling USD 120 million (equivalent to AED 440.76 
million) for a three year maturity at three month Libor plus 190 basis points, classified at amortized cost. The Notes were issued 
under the Bank’s Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) Programme.

On 18 September 2019, the Bank issued Senior Unsecured Fixed Rate Notes, totalling USD 600 million (equivalent to AED 2,204 
million) for a five year maturity at mid swaps plus 250 basis point, to yield 4.015%, classified at amortized cost. The Notes were 
issued under the Bank’s Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) Programme which is listed on the Irish Stock Exchange.

The fair value and the change in that fair value that can be ascribed to changes in underlying credit risk are set out below:

 31 December 31 December 
 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Fair value of issued bond 5,597,926 3,589,972
Changes in fair value of issued bond not attributable to changes in market conditions (42,386) 93,408
Difference between carrying amount and amount contractually required to be paid at maturity 27,857 (83,028)

The Group estimates changes in fair value due to credit risk by estimating the amount of change in fair value that is not due to changes 
in market conditions that give rise to market risk.

22.  CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Issued and paid up capital 

 Number of  Number of
 shares AED’000 shares AED’000

Issued capital  2,100,000,000 2,100,000 2,100,000,000 2,100,000
    
 2,100,000,000 2,100,000 2,100,000,000 2,100,000
 ============ ============ ============ ============

2019 2018
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(b) Statutory reserve
In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association and Article (239) of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, the Bank transfers 
10% of annual profits, if any, to the statutory reserve until it is equal to 50% of the paid up share capital. This reserve is not 
available for distribution other than in circumstances stipulated by law.

(c) Contingency reserve
In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Bank a contingency reserve is calculated at 10% of the profit for the year 
to be transferred to a contingency reserve until this reserve becomes 50% of the issued and paid up capital.

(d) General reserve
Transfers to general reserve are made based on the discretion of the Board of Directors and is subject to the approval of the 
shareholders at the annual general meeting.

Earnings per share are computed by dividing the profit for the year by the average number of shares outstanding during the year 
as follows:

As at the reporting date, the diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share as the Group has not issued any 
financial instruments that should be taken into consideration when the diluted earnings per share is calculated.

23.  EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share 2019 2018

(Loss)/ profit attributable to owners of the Bank for the year (AED’000) (494,195) 127,455
 ========= =========

Weighted average number of ordinary shares:  
Ordinary shares at the beginning of the year 2,100,000 2,100,000
Effect of scrip dividend issued during the year - -
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (in thousands shares) 2,100,000 2,100,000
 ========= =========
Basic and diluted (loss)/ earnings per share (AED) (0.24) 0.06
 ========= =========

Bank of Sharjah

Dividends
At the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders held on 
6 July 2019, the shareholders approved no cash dividends 
distribution (2017: no cash dividend distribution).

Directors’ remuneration 
At the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders held on  
6 July 2019, the shareholders of the Bank approved Directors’ 
remuneration of AED 7.5 million (2017: AED 7.5 million).

Charity donations
At the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders held on on 
6 July 2019, the shareholders approved charitable donations of 
AED 7.5 million (2017: AED 7.5 million). 

Transfer to reserves
At the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders held on 
on 6 July 2019, the shareholders approved an appropriation of 
AED 40 million (2017: AED 40 million) to contingency reserves.

Emirates Lebanon Bank

Cash dividend

At the Annual General Meeting held on 23 February 2019 of 
the shareholders of Emirates Lebanon Bank S.A.L, a subsidiary 
of the Bank, the shareholders approved no cash dividend 
distribution (2017: no cash dividend distribution). 

Directors’ remuneration 

At the Annual General Meeting held on 23 February 2019 of 
the shareholders of Emirates Lebanon Bank S.A.L, a subsidiary 
of the Bank, approved Directors’ remuneration of AED 3.3 
million (2017: AED 3.9 million).

24.  TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS AND DIRECTORS OF THE GROUP
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These contingent liabilities have off-balance sheet credit risk as only the related fees and accruals for probable losses are recognised 
in the statement of financial position until the commitments are fulfilled or expire. Many of the contingent liabilities will expire 
without being advanced in whole or in part. Therefore, the amounts do not represent expected future cash-flows. 

Credit-related commitments include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit, and guarantees which are designed 
to meet the requirements of the Group’s customers.

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and advances and revolving credits. Commitments 
generally have fixed expiry dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total 
contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.

Letters of credit and guarantees commit the Group to make payments on behalf of customers contingent upon the failure of the 
customer to perform under the terms of the contract. 

The bank and its subsidiaries are party to legal proceedings, including regulatory investigations, in the ordinary course of business. 
While there is inherent difficulty in predicting the outcome of these proceedings, management does not expect the outcome of any 
of these proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position or the 
results of operations of the bank.

25.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

26.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

27.  FIDUCIARY ASSETS 

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Financial guarantees for loans 282,226 338,716
Other guarantees  2,581,167 2,405,593
Letters of credit  830,317 1,092,173
  
 3,693,710 3,836,482
Irrevocable commitments to extend credit  1,626,507 1,577,285
  
 5,320,217 5,413,767
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Cash and balances with central banks (Note 6) 5,808,927  4,636,343
Deposits and balances due from banks (Note 7) 350,287 507,785
Reverse-repo placements (Note 8) 457,291 849,188
Deposits and balances due to banks (Note 18) (42,989) (304,931)
Repo borrowings (Note 19) (130,230) -
  
 6,443,286 5,688,385
Less:  Deposits and balances due from banks - original maturity more than three months (1,324,042) (1,415,977)
Less:  Statutory deposits with central banks (Note 6) (1,084,851) (1,069,087)
  
 4,034,393 3,203,321
 ========= =========

The Group holds investments amounting to AED 0.06 billion (31 December 2018: AED 0.6 billion) which are held on behalf of 
customers and not treated as assets in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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28.  INTEREST INCOME

29.  INTEREST EXPENSE

30.  NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

31.  INCOME ON INVESTMENTS

32.  OTHER INCOME

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Loans and advances  1,185,588 1,055,553
Certificates of deposit and treasury bills with central banks and debt instruments 68,896 148,364
Net interest income on swaps 17,892 1,097
Placements with banks 87,901 28,150
Reverse-repo placements 27,771 35,725
  
 1,388,048 1,268,889
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Customers’ deposits 783,964 608,629
Issued bonds 160,793 139,647
Banks’ deposits 27,636 7,890
  
 972,393 756,166
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Corporate banking credit related fees 86,000 93,876
Trade finance activities 37,444 35,034
Letters of guarantee  24,283 41,870
Other 12,096 2,086
  
 159,823 172,866
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Dividends 20,046 15,091
Realized and unrealized gain on investments measured at FVTPL 398 17,145
Net trading gain/ (loss) 1,296  (933)
  
 21,740 31,303
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Rental income and others 40,034 15,292
  
 40,034 15,292
 ========= =========
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33.  NET IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

34.  GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

35.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Impairment charge on financial assets 313,529 139,910
Impairment charge on credit impaired assets 372,044 237,308
  
Total charge for the year  685,573 377,218
Write backs on loans (191,818) (125,433)
Write backs on other financial assets (55,101) -
  
 438,654 251,785
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Personnel expenses 183,721 197,723
Depreciation (Note 15) 34,862 27,915
Other expenses* 99,283 91,762
  
 317,866 317,400
 ========= =========

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Loans and advances 638,554 492,785
Letters of credit, guarantee and acceptances  11,415 120,140
  
 649,969 612,925
  
Collateral deposits 7,170 7,281
  
Net exposure  642,799 605,644
 ========= =========
Other deposits 158,669 131,559
 ========= =========

Interest income 51,187 50,905
  
Interest expense 12,005 10,215
 ========= =========

*Others include an amount of AED 8.5 million (2018: AED 6.5 million) representing social contributions made during the year ended  
31 December 2019.

The Group enters into transactions with major shareholders, directors, senior management and their related concerns in the ordinary 
course of business at commercial interest and commission rates.

Transactions within the Group and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

The related parties balances included in the consolidated statement of financial position and the significant transactions with related 
parties are as follows:
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Compensation of Directors and key management personnel:

No impairment loss has been recognised against balances outstanding with key management personnel and other related parties.

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. 

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of 
segment performance is specifically focused on the type of business activities undertaken as a Group. For operating purposes, the 
Group is organised into two major business segments: 

(i) Commercial Banking, which principally provides loans and other credit facilities, deposits and current accounts for corporate,  
 government, institutional and individual customers; and 

(ii) Investment Banking, which involves the management of the Group’s investment portfolio.

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Short term benefits 16,410 10,110
Directors fees 7,500 7,500
End of service benefits  1,292 5,489
  
Total compensation as at 31 December  25,202 23,099
 ========= =========

36. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 

36.1 IFRS 8 Operating Segments 

36.2 Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues 



92

8. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

 Commercial Investment * banking banking Unallocated Total
 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
    
Operating income    
Net interest income 374,031 41,624 - 415,655
Net fee and commission income 159,823 - - 159,823
Exchange profit 11,532 - - 11,532
Investment income - 21,740 - 21,740
Revaluation loss on properties and shares - (84,677) - (84,677)
Other income 41,034         (1,000)                    - 40,034 
    
Total operating income 586,420 (22,313) - 564,107

Other material non-cash items    
Net impairment charge on financial assets (438,654) - - (438,654)
Goodwill impairment  (273,559) - - (273,559)
Depreciation of property and equipment - - (34,862) (34,862)
General and administrative expenses (240,554) (42,450) - (283,004)
Amortization of intangible assets - - (5,910) (5,910)
Income tax expenses – overseas - - (15,802) (15,802)
    
Net loss for the year (366,347) (64,763) (56,574) (487,684)
    
Segment assets 24,025,995 3,127,077 4,594,233 31,747,305
 ========= ========= ========= =========
Segment liabilities 22,264,725 5,597,926 755,558 28,618,209
 ========= ========= ========= =========

The following table presents information regarding the Group’s operating segments for the year ended 31 December 2019: 

* Unallocated items comprise mainly head office expenses and tax assets and liabilities of the overseas subsidiary.
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* Unallocated items comprise mainly head office expenses and tax assets and liabilities of the overseas subsidiary.

 Commercial Investment * banking banking Unallocated Total
 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
    
Operating income    
Net interest income 461,292 51,431 - 512,723
Net fee and commission income 172,866 - - 172,866
Exchange profit 14,928 - - 14,928
Investment income - 31,303 - 31,303
Revaluation loss on properties - (25,635) - (25,635)
Other income 15,292 - - 15,292
    
Total operating income 664,378 57,099 - 721,477

Other material non-cash items    
Net impairment charge on financial assets (251,785) - - (251,785)
Depreciation of property and equipment - - (27,915) (27,915)
General and administrative expenses (246,062) (43,423) - (289,485)
Amortization of intangible assets - - (5,910) (5,910)
Income tax expenses – overseas - - (16,680) (16,680)
    
Net profit for the year 166,531 13,676 (50,505) 129,702
    
Segment assets 22,409,335 3,157,551 3,556,611 29,123,497
 ========= ========= ========= =========
Segment liabilities 21,157,023 3,589,972 597,587 25,344,582
 ========= ========= ========= =========

The following table presents information regarding the Group’s operating segments for the year ended 31 December 2018:

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the 
year (2018: Nil). Transactions between segments, inter-segment cost of funds and allocation of expenses are not determined by 
management for resource allocation purpose. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s 
accounting policies described in note 4.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

• All assets are allocated to reportable segments except for property and equipment, goodwill and other intangibles and certain 
amounts included in other assets; and 

• All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments except for certain amounts included in other liabilities.
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The Group operates in two principal geographical areas - United Arab Emirates (country of domicile) and Lebanon (referred to as 
‘Foreign Entity’).

The Group’s operating income and information about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed below: 

In 2019, one customer accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s net operating income each (2018: two customers accounted 
for more than 10% of the Group’s net operating income).

36.3 Geographical information

36.4 Information about major customers 

 Country of    
 domicile Foreign Total
2019 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Operating income 
 369,440 194,667 564,107
 ========= ========= =========
Non-current assets 5,126,776 431,299 5,558,075
 ========= ========= =========

2018   
Operating income 
 597,414 124,063 721,477
 ========= ========= =========
Non-current assets 4,227,520 287,445 4,514,965
 ========= ========= =========

37.  CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(a) The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts as  
 at 31 December 2019:
 FVTPL FVTOCI Amortised cost Total
 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
    
Financial assets:    
Cash and balances with central banks - - 5,808,927 5,808,927
Deposits and balances due from banks - - 350,287 350,287
Reverse-repo placements - - 457,291 457,291
Loans and advances, net - - 17,735,756 17,735,756
Other financial assets measured at fair value 159,284 460,194 - 619,478
Other financial assets measured at amortised cost - - 452,219 452,219
Other assets 29,585 - 984,311 1,013,896
    
Total 188,869 460,194 25,788,791 26,437,854
 ========= ========= ========= ========= 
  
Financial liabilities:    
Customers’ deposits  - - 21,326,234 21,326,234
Deposits and balances due to banks  - - 42,989 42,989
Repo borrowings - - 130,230 130,230
Other liabilities 7,577 - 1,399,085 1,406,662
Issued Bonds 5,597,926 - - 5,597,926
    
Total 5,605,503 - 22,898,538 28,504,041
 ========= ========= ========= =========
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(b) The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts  
 as at 31 December 2018:

38. RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group has Senior Management committees to oversee 
the risk management. The Executive Committee and the Board 
Risk Committee, under delegation from the Board of Directors 
defines policies, processes, and systems to manage and monitor 
credit risk. It also sets policies, system and limits for interest rate 
risk, foreign exchange risk, and liquidity risk. The Group also has 
a Credit Risk function which independently reviews adherence to 
all risk management policies and processes. The Group’s internal 
audit function, which is part of risk review, primarily evaluates 
the effectiveness of the controls addressing operational risk. 

Starting from the last quarter of 2019, Lebanon has been 
facing a political and economic instability. In order to protect 
the system and to mitigate the risks of the crisis, Lebanese 
banks have reviewed the limits on withdrawing US dollars 
and restricted all international outgoing transfers to basic 
necessities. In addition to that, on 4 December 2019, the 
Central Bank of Lebanon issued a new circular which requires 
Lebanese banks to impose new caps on interest rates on 
deposits and pay depositors half the interest due on foreign 
currency holdings in Lebanese Lira. With a significant debt 
to GDP ratio, Lebanon’s external debt has risen significantly 
and it is facing turmoil and there is no certainty to when 
the situation will correct. Credit rating agencies subsequent 
to year end downgraded the country’s credit rating. As a 
result of the same, these financial statements have reflected 
adjustments including impairment of goodwill, and an increase 

in expected credit losses (and respective staging). The Group 
continues to monitor the situation closely and the subsidiary 
continues to operate, and has support from the Group.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument 
will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party 
to incur a financial loss. The Group attempts to control credit 
risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions 
with specific counter-parties, and continually assessing the 
creditworthiness of counter-parties. In addition to monitoring 
credit limits, the Group manages the credit exposure relating to 
its trading activities by entering into master netting agreements 
and collateral arrangements with counter-parties in appropriate 
circumstances, and by limiting the duration of exposure. In certain 
cases, the Group may also close out transactions or assign them 
to other counter-parties to mitigate credit risk.

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counter-
parties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in 
the same geographic region, or have similar economic features 
that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to 
be similarly affected by changes in economic, political, or other 
conditions.

Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of 
the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular 
industry or geographic location.

 FVTPL FVTOCI Amortised cost Total
 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
    
Financial assets:    
Cash and balances with central banks - - 4,636,343 4,636,343
Deposits and balances due from banks - - 507,785 507,785
Reverse-repo placements - - 849,188 849,188
Loans and advances, net - - 17,301,105 17,301,105
Investments measured at fair value 143,446 483,308 190,565 817,319
Investments measured at amortised cost - - 671,554 671,554
Other assets 3,590 - 1,852,664 1,856,254
    
Total 147,036 483,308 26,009,204 26,639,548
 ========= ========= ========= ========= 
  
Financial liabilities:    
Customers’ deposits  - - 20,119,169 20,119,169
Deposits and balances due to banks  - - 304,931 304,931
Other liabilities 62,808 - 1,125,814 1,188,622
Issued Bonds 3,589,972 - - 3,589,972
    
Total 3,652,780 - 21,549,914 25,202,694
 ========= ========= ========= =========
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Policies relating to credit are reviewed and approved by the 
Group’s Executive Committee. All credit lines are approved in 
accordance with the Group’s credit policy set out in the Credit 
Policy Manual. Credit and marketing functions are segregated. 
In addition, whenever possible, loans are secured by acceptable 
forms of collateral in order to mitigate credit risk. The Group 
further limits risk through diversification of its assets by 
economic and industry sectors. 

All credit facilities are administered and monitored by the Credit 
Administration Department. Periodic reviews are conducted 
by Credit Risk and facilities are risk graded based on criterion 
established in the Credit Policy Manual.

Cross border exposure and financial institutions exposure limits 
for money market and treasury activities are approved as per 
guidelines established by the Group’s Executive Committee and 
are monitored by the Senior Management on a daily basis.

The Executive Committee is responsible for setting credit 
policy of the Group. It also establishes industry caps, approves 
policy exceptions, and conducts periodic portfolio reviews to 
ascertain portfolio quality.

Commercial/Institutional lending underwriting
All credit applications for Commercial and Institutional lending are 
subject to the Group’s credit policies, underwriting standards and 
industry caps (if any) and to regulatory requirements, as applicable 
from time to time. The Group does not lend to companies 
operating in industries that are considered by the Group 
inherently risky and where industry knowledge specialisation is 
required. In addition, the Group sets credit limits for all customers 
based on their creditworthiness. 

All credit facilities extended by the Group are made subject 
to prior approval pursuant to a delegated signature authority 
system under the ultimate authority of the Executive Committee 
or the Group’s Executive Director and General Manager under 
the supervision of the Board. At least two signatures are required 
to approve any commercial or institutional credit application. 

Credit review procedures and loan classification
The Group’s Credit Risk department subjects the Group’s risk 
assets to an independent quality evaluation on a regular basis in 
conformity with the guidelines of the Central Bank of the U.A.E. 
and the Group’s internal policies in order to assist in the early 
identification of accrual and potential performance problems. The 
Credit Risk department validates the risk ratings of all commercial 
clients, provides an assessment of portfolio risk by product and 
industry and monitors observance of all approved credit policies, 
guidelines and operating procedures across the Group. 

All commercial/institutional loan facilities of the Group are 
assigned one of ten risk ratings (1-10) where 1 is being 
excellent and 10 being loss with no reimbursement capacity 
and total provisioning. 

If a Loan is impaired, interest will be suspended and not be 
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Specific 
allowance for impairment of classified assets is made based on 
recoverability of outstanding and risk ratings of the assets. 

The Group also measures its exposure to credit risk by reference 
to the gross carrying amount of financial assets less amounts 
offset, interest suspended and impairment losses, if any. The 
carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum 
credit exposure.

 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 
 Exposure Provision Exposure Provision Exposure Provision Exposure Provision
Balances with  
central banks  6,034,553  297,731  -    -    -    -    6,034,553  297,731
Due from banks and  
financial institutions  360,050  10,653  907  17  -    -    360,957  10,670
Reverse repurchase  
agreements  457,713   422   -    -    -    -    457,713   422 
Loans and advances 12,769,602 409,288 4,143,445 607,198 2,667,331 828,136 19,580,378 1,844,622
Debt securities at  
amortised cost 486,484 34,265  -    -    -    -    486,484 34,265
Unfunded exposure 4,627,673 23,419 14,181 2,811 701,927 95,590 5,343,781 121,820
        
 24,736,075 775,778 4,158,533 610,026 3,369,258 923,726 32,263,866 2,309,530
 ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== ========

As of  
31 December 2019

Stage 1 Stage 3Stage 2 Total
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 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 
 Exposure Provision Exposure Provision Exposure Provision Exposure Provision
Balances with  
central banks  4,587,581 8,382 - - - - 4,587,581 8,382
Due from banks and  
financial institutions  467,988 880 40,678 1 - - 508,666 881
Reverse repurchase  
agreements  849,534 346 - - - - 849,534 346 
Loans and advances 9,967,492 21,327 7,208,338 735,776 2,125,584 1,243,206 19,301,414 2,000,309
Debt securities at  
amortised cost 675,585 4,031 - - - - 675,585 4,031
Unfunded exposure 4,192,454 1,404 1,110,367 22,173 531,798 93,152 5,834,619 116,729
        
 20,740,634 36,370 8,359,383 757,950 2,657,382 1,336,358 31,757,399 2,130,678
 ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== ========

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans and advances AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

Grade 1 - - - -
Grade 2 557,909 - - 557,909
Grade 3 2,975,022 - - 2,975,022
Grade 4 4,185,690 25,425 - 4,211,115
Grade 5 3,652,153 411,677 - 4,063,830
Grade 6 650,966 1,697,204 - 2,348,170
Grade 7 747,862 2,009,139 - 2,757,001
Default grades 8-10 - - 2,667,331 2,667,331
    
Total gross carrying amount 12,769,602 4,143,445 2,667,331 19,580,378
Allowance for impairment losses (409,288) (607,198) (828,136) (1,844,622) 
    
Net carrying amount 12,360,314 3,536,247 1,839,195 17,735,756
 ======== ======== ======== ========

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans and advances AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

Normal 6,827,348 352,846 18,836 7,199,030
Other loans exceptionally monitored 815,204 929,121 16,275 1,760,600
Substandard 3,820,410 1,597,567 - 5,417,977
Doubtful 299 370,040 2,168,027 2,538,366
Loss 60 125,402 310,601 436,063
    
Total gross carrying amount 11,463,321 3,374,976 2,513,739 17,352,036
Allowance for impairment losses (382,689) (531,681) (745,592) (1,659,962) 
    
Net carrying amount 11,080,632 2,843,295 1,768,147 15,692,074
 ======== ======== ======== ========

As of  
31 December 2018

2019

2019

Stage 1 Stage 3Stage 2 Total

Maximum exposure to credit risk

THE CENTRAL BANK OF THE UAE CLASSIFICATION OF LOANS AND ADVANCES 
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 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans and advances AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

Grade 1 85 - - 85
Grade 2 329,887 - - 329,887
Grade 3 2,065,637 - - 2,065,637
Grade 4 5,251,069 98,498 - 5,349,567
Grade 5 2,249,385 998 - 2,250,383
Grade 6 71,277 3,369,578 - 3,440,855
Grade 7 152 3,739,264 - 3,739,416
Default grades 8-10 - - 2,125,584 2,125,584
    
Total gross carrying amount 9,967,492 7,208,338 2,125,584 19,301,414
Allowance for impairment losses (21,327) (735,776) (1,243,206) (2,000,309) 
    
Net carrying amount 9,946,165 6,472,562 882,378 17,301,105
 ======== ======== ======== ========

2018

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans and advances AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

Normal 7,275,357 1,551,931 3,824 8,831,112
Other loans exceptionally monitored 2,439 278,629 10,499 291,567
Substandard 1,392,636 3,766,728 166,749 5,326,113
Doubtful - 756,295 1,771,456 2,527,751
Loss - - 23,652 23,652
    
Total gross carrying amount 8,670,432 6,353,583 1,976,180 17,000,195
Allowance for impairment losses (18,683) (687,503) (1,252,614) (1,958,800) 
    
Net carrying amount 8,651,749 5,666,080 723,566 15,041,395
 ======== ======== ======== ========

2018
THE CENTRAL BANK OF THE UAE CLASSIFICATION OF LOANS AND ADVANCES 
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AGING ANALYSIS OF PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED LOANS PER CLASS OF ON-BALANCE SHEET 
FINANCIAL ASSETS
 Less than 30 days 31 to 89 days More than 90 days Total
 2019 2019 2019 2019
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Loans and advances 86,151 123,970 196,589 406,710
    
 Less than 30 days 31 to 89 days More than 90 days Total
 2018 2018 2018 2018
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Loans and advances 23,748 9,155 394,455 427,358

CARRYING AMOUNT PER CLASS OF ON-BALANCE SHEET FINANCIAL ASSETS WHOSE TERMS HAVE  
BEEN RENEGOTIATED
 2019 2018 
 AED’000 AED’000

Loans and advances 565,382 1,099,323

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position, including 
contingent liabilities and commitments. The maximum exposure is shown, before the effect of mitigation through the use of 
credit enhancements, master netting and collateral agreements.

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk exposure but not 
the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.

The fair value of the collateral that the Group held as at 31 December 2019 for past due but not impaired loans and advances to 
customers covers 207% (2018: 193%) of the outstanding balance. For each loan, the value of the disclosed collateral is capped 
to the nominal amount of the loan that is held against

 NOTES 2019 2018
  AED’000 AED’000

Balances with Central Banks  6 5,808,927 4,579,199
Deposits and balances due from banks 7 350,287 507,785
Reverse-repo placements 8 457,291 849,188
Loans and advances , net 9 17,735,756 17,301,105
Investments in debt securities 10 452,219 671,554
Other assets (excluding prepayments &  
assets acquired in settlement of debts)  1,013,986 882,393
   
Total   25,818,466 24,791,224
  ========= =========

Letters of credit  25 830,317 1,092,173
Guarantees  25 2,863,393 2,744,309
Undrawn loan commitments  25 1,626,507 1,577,285
   
Total   5,320,217 5,413,767
   
Total credit risk exposure  31,138,683 30,204,991
  ========= =========

COLLATERALS HELD AGAINST LOANS AND ADVANCES
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IMPAIRED LOANS 
Impaired loans are loans for which the Group determines that it 
is likely the collectability of all principal and interest due according 
to the contractual terms of the loan/securities agreement(s) 
would be doubtful. These loans are graded 8 to 10 in the Group’s 
internal credit risk grading system.

WRITE-OFF POLICY
The Group writes off a loan balance (and any related allowances 
for impairment losses) when the Group determines that the 
loans are uncollectible. This determination is reached after 
considering information such as the occurrence of significant 
changes in the borrower/issuer’s financial position such that 
the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that 
proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the 
entire exposure. 

The Group holds collateral against loans and advances in the form 
of mortgage interests over properties, vehicles and machineries, 
cash margins, fixed deposits, guarantees and others. The Group 
accepts guarantees mainly from well-reputed local or international 
banks, well-established local or multinational corporate and high 
net worth private individuals. Management has estimated the fair 
value of collateral to be AED 11.6 billion (2018: AED 13.4 billion) 
out of which AED 1.2 billion is collateral held against stage 3 
loans and advances (2018: AED 427 million). The fair value of 
the collateral includes cash deposits which are not under lien and 
the Group has right to set-off against the outstanding facilities.

Concentration risk arises when a number of counterparties 
are engaged in similar business activities or activities in same 
geographic region or have similar economic features that would 
cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly 
affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. 
The Group measure its exposure to credit risk by reference to 
gross carrying amount of financial assets less amounts offset, 
profit suspended and impairment losses, if any.

Concentration of credit risk by industrial sector for loans and 
advances are presented in notes 9e and 9f. Concentration of 
credit risk by geographical distribution of loans and advances 
and financial investments is set out in note 9b and 10b.

LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT
Executive Committee (EC) & Board Risk Committee (BRC)

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty 
in meeting obligations from its financial liabilities.

In addition to its credit related activity, the Executive Committee 
along with the Board Risk Committee have a broad range of 
authority delegated by the Board of Directors to manage the 
Group’s asset and liability structure and funding strategy. The 
EC and BRC review liquidity ratios; asset and liability structure; 

interest rate and foreign exchange exposures; internal and 
statutory ratio requirements; funding gaps; and general domestic 
and international economic and financial market conditions. The 
EC & BRC formulate liquidity risk management guidelines for the 
Group’s operation on the basis of such review. 

The Group’s Senior Management monitors the liquidity on 
a daily basis and uses an interest rate simulation model to 
measure and monitor interest rate sensitivity and varying 
interest rate scenarios. 

The EC members comprise of the Chairman, four Board 
Members, in addition to the General Manager. The EC meets 
once or more every 45 days, as circumstances dictate. The 
quorum requires all members to be present at the meeting 
and decisions taken to be unanimous.

The Group manages its liquidity in accordance with U.A.E. 
Central Bank requirements and the Group’s internal guidelines. 
The U.A.E. Central Bank sets cash ratio requirements on overall 
deposits ranging between 1.0 percent for time deposits and 
14.0 percent for demand deposits, according to the tenor of the 
deposits. The U.A.E. Central Bank also imposes a mandatory 1:1 
utilisation ratio, whereby; loans and advances (combined with 
inter-bank placements having a remaining term of 'greater than 
three months') should not exceed stable funds as defined by 
the U.A.E. Central Bank. Stable funds are defined by the U.A.E. 
Central Bank to mean free-own funds, inter-bank deposits with 
a remaining term of more than six months, and stable customer 
deposits. To guard against liquidity risk, the Group diversifies its 
funding sources and manages its assets with liquidity in mind, 
seeking to maintain a preferable proportion between cash, cash 
equivalent, and readily marketable securities. The Board Risk 
Committee sets and monitors liquidity ratios and regularly revises 
and updates the Group’s liquidity management policies to ensure 
that the Group would be in a position to meet its obligations as 
they fall due. Management of liquidity risk within the parameters 
prescribed by the Board Risk Committee has been delegated to 
an Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) comprising the Deputy 
General Manager and senior executives from treasury, finance, 
corporate credit, and investment departments.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it 
will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
they fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or potential damage to 
the Group’s reputation. 

The Treasury department communicates with other business 
units regarding the liquidity profile of their financial assets and 
liabilities and details of other projected cash flows arising from 
projected future business. The Treasury maintains a portfolio of 
short-term liquid assets to ensure liquidity is maintained within 
the Group’s operations as a whole. 
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The daily liquidity position is monitored and regular liquidity 
stress testing is performed under a variety of scenarios 
covering both normal and severe market conditions. All liquidity 
policies and procedures are subject to review and approval 
by the Board Risk Committee. The Daily Position sheet, which 
reports the liquidity and exchange positions of the Group is 
reviewed by Senior Management. A summary report, including 
any exceptions and remedial action taken, is submitted to the 
Board Risk Committee. 

EXPOSURE TO LIQUIDITY RISK
The key measure used by the Group for measuring liquidity 
risk is the advances to stable resources ratio (regulatory ratio) 

which is 80.26% as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 80.94%). In 
addition, the Group also uses the following ratios/information 
on a continuous basis for measuring liquidity risk:

• Liquid assets to total assets ratio;

• Net loans to deposits ratio (LDR);

• Basel III ratios (including ASRR, ELAR, etc.) are also 
monitored internally and shared with the Board on 
quarterly basis.

The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 
2019 based on the remaining period from the end of the 
reporting period to the contractual maturity date is as follows:

  Over 
 Within 3 months Over 
 3 months to 1 year 1 year Undated Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks  4,725,670     -      1,034,363  48,894  5,808,927
Deposits and balances due from banks 237,743    110,276  -       2,268    350,287
Reverse-repo placements 457,291     -       -       -      457,291
Loans and advances, net 8,384,776 1,775,597    7,575,383 - 17,735,756
Investments measured at fair value  159,284     -       -      460,194 619,478
Investments measured at amortised cost 43,880  1,572    406,767 - 452,219
Investment properties - - - 756,037 756,037
Goodwill and other intangibles - - - 136,587 136,587
Other assets 167,469  83,668    4,808,666  -      5,059,803
Property and equipment - - - 370,920    370,920   
     
Total assets 14,176,113 1,971,113 13,825,179 1,774,900 31,747,305
 ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
     
Liabilities and equity      
Customers’ deposits   15,287,463     5,941,512     69,258     28,001     21,326,234
Deposits and balances due to banks   76,281     96,938     -       -       173,219   
Other liabilities 1,461,505 59,325 - - 1,520,830
Issued Bonds -  712,989    4,884,937     -      5,597,926
Equity - - - 3,129,096 3,129,096
     
Total liabilities and equity 16,825,249 6,810,764 4,954,195 3,157,097 31,747,305
 ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
Net liquidity gap (2,649,136) (4,839,651) 8,870,984 (1,382,197) -
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The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 2018 based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting 
period to the contractual maturity date is as follows:

  Over 
 Within 3 months Over 
 3 months to 1 year 1 year Undated Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 3,199,111 36,730 1,379,245 21,257 4,636,343
Deposits and balances due from banks 495,708 12,077 - - 507,785
Reverse-repo placements 849,188 - - - 849,188
Loans and advances, net 7,962,373 1,140,388 8,194,390 3,954 17,301,105
Investments measured at fair value 143,446 - - 673,873 817,319
Investments measured at amortised cost - 100,363 563,136 8,055 671,554
Investment properties - - - 608,473 608,473
Goodwill and other intangibles - - - 416,056 416,056
Other assets 891,172 321,538 1,798,387 - 3,011,097
Property and equipment - - - 304,577 304,577   
     
Total assets 13,540,998 1,611,096 11,935,158 2,036,245 29,123,497
 ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
     
Liabilities and equity      
Customers’ deposits  15,044,791 4,819,063 225,315 30,000 20,119,169
Deposits and balances due to banks  259,004 - 45,927 - 304,931
Other liabilities 1,152,825 64,771 112,914 - 1,330,510
Issued Bonds - - 1,798,044 1,791,928 3,589,972
Equity - - - 3,778,915 3,778,915
     
Total liabilities and equity 16,456,620 4,883,834 2,182,200 5,600,843 29,123,497
 ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
Net liquidity gap (2,915,622) (3,272,738) 9,752,958 (3,564,598) -

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT
Market Risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of the financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 
market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
and equity prices. The Group classifies exposures to market 
risk into trading, or non-trading /banking book. 

(a) Market risk - trading book
The Executive Committee has set limits for acceptable level 
of risks in managing the trading book. The Group maintains a 
well-diversified portfolio. In order to manage the market risk in 
the trading book, the Group carries a limited amount of market 
risk based on the policy preference and this is continuously 

monitored by Senior Management. Proprietary trading for the 
account of the Group is managed by a proprietary trading limit 
with a stop-loss limit. 

The Group’s trading book mainly comprises of equity instruments 
in companies listed on the U.A.E. exchanges. As such, the market 
risk in the trading book is limited to equity price risk. 

Equity price risk refers to the risk of a decrease in the fair values 
of equities in the Group’s trading investment portfolio as a 
result of reasonable possible changes in levels of equity indices 
and the value of individual stocks.
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The effect on the Group’s equity investments held in the trading book due to a reasonable possible change in U.A.E. equity indices, 
with all other variables held constant is as follows:

 Change in Effect on Change in  Effect on
 equity price income equity price income
 % AED’000 % AED’000

Global Stock markets +1% 1,593 +1% 1,434
Global Stock markets -1% (1,593) -1% (1,434)

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

(b) Market risk - non-trading or banking book
Market risk on non-trading or banking positions mainly arises from the interest rate, foreign currency exposures and equity  
price changes.

i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the value of financial instruments. The Group is 
exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the amounts of assets and liabilities.

The Group uses simulation-modelling tools to periodically measure and monitor interest rate sensitivity. The results are monitored 
and analysed by the Senior Management. Since most of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are floating rate, deposits and 
loans generally re-price simultaneously providing a natural hedge, which reduces interest rate exposure. Moreover, the majority of the 
Group’s assets and liabilities will be re-priced within one year or less, thereby further limiting interest rate risk. 

The Group’s interest sensitivity position, based on the contractual re-pricing or maturity dates, whichever dates are earlier as at 
31 December 2019 was as follows:

Assets       
Cash and balances with central banks 1.71% 2,696,903    - 954,906 2,157,118 5,808,927
Deposits and balances due from banks 2.94% 36,856    - - 313,431 350,287
Reverse-repo placements 2.09% 457,291    - - - 457,291   
Loans and advances, net 6.69% 14,918,486     56,827     225,647    2,534,796 17,735,756
Other financial assets - Equity instruments  43,857     72,954     36,131    466,536 619,478   
Other financial assets - Debt securities 5.26% 205,737     1,572    244,910 - 452,219
Investment properties  - - - 756,037 756,037
Goodwill and other intangibles  - - - 136,587 136,587
Other assets   - - - 5,059,803 5,059,803
Property and equipment, net  - - - 370,920    370,920   
  ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
Total assets  18,359,130    131,353    1,461,594 11,795,228 31,747,305
  ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
Liabilities and equity       
Customers’ deposits  3.25% 11,439,493     5,692,676     69,428    4,124,637     21,326,234   
Deposits and balances due to banks  3.12%  11,262     8,786     -       22,941     42,989   
Reverse repo borrowings 2.68%  130,230    - -  -       130,230   
Other liabilities   2,264     -       -      1,518,566 1,520,830
Issued Bonds 4.00%  -       -      5,597,926     -      5,597,926   
Equity   -       -       -      3,129,096 3,129,096
      
Total liabilities and equity   11,583,249    5,701,462    5,667,354    8,795,240 31,747,305
  ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
On statement of financial position gap  6,775,881 (5,570,109) (4,205,760) 2,999,988 - 
      
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap  6,775,881 1,205,772 (2,999,988) - -
  ========= ========= ========= ========= =========

Weighted 
Average 

Effective  
Rate

Within
3 months
AED’000

Over  
3 months
to 1 year
AED’000

Over  
1 year

AED’000

Non-
interest

sensitive
AED’000

Total
AED’000
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The Group’s interest sensitivity position, based on the contractual re-pricing or maturity dates, whichever dates are earlier as at 
31 December 2018 was as follows:

Assets       
Cash and balances with central banks 1.65% 2,346,281 22,781 910,196 1,357,085 4,636,343
Deposits and balances due from banks 3.81% 294,143 - - 213,642 507,785
Reverse-repo placements 2.72% 849,188 - - - 849,188
Loans and advances, net 6.35% 15,046,105 59,170 319,032 1,876,798 17,301,105
Other financial assets - Equity instruments  - 45,026 160,252 612,041 817,319
Other financial assets - Debt securities 5.46% 268,803 55,337 344,030 3,384 671,554
Investment properties  - - - 608,473 608,473
Goodwill and other intangibles  - - - 416,056 416,056
Other assets   - - - 3,011,097 3,011,097
Property and equipment, net  - - - 304,577 304,577
      
Total assets  18,804,520 182,314 1,733,510 8,403,153 29,123,497
  ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
Liabilities and equity       
Customers’ deposits  3.30% 12,202,370 4,479,672 251,454 3,185,673 20,119,169
Deposits and balances due to banks  2.46% 246,580 6,288 45,928 6,135 304,931
Other liabilities  2,341 - - 1,328,169 1,330,510
Issued Bonds 3.80% - - 3,589,972 - 3,589,972
Equity  - - - 3,778,915 3,778,915
      
Total liabilities and equity   12,451,291 4,485,960 3,887,354 8,298,892 29,123,497
  ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
On statement of financial position gap  6,353,229 (4,303,646) (2,153,844) 104,261 - 
      
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap  6,353,229 2,049,583 (104,261) - -
  ========= ========= ========= ========= =========

Weighted 
Average 

Effective  
Rate

Within
3 months
AED’000

Over  
3 months
to 1 year
AED’000

Over  
1 year

AED’000

Non-
interest

sensitive
AED’000

Total
AED’000

The effective interest rate (effective yield) of a monetary 
financial instrument is the rate that, when used in a present value 
calculation, results in the carrying amount of the instrument, 
excluding non-interest bearing items. The rate is a historical 
rate for a fixed rate instrument carried at amortised cost and 
the current market rate for a floating rate instrument or for an 
instrument carried at fair value.

The following table depicts the sensitivity to a reasonable 
possible change in interest rates, with other variables held 
constant, on the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or 

loss or equity. The sensitivity of the income is the effect of the 
assumed changes in interest rates on the net interest income for 
one year, based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets 
and financial liabilities held as at 31 December 2019, including 
the effect of hedging instruments. The sensitivity of equity is 
calculated by revaluing the fixed rate, including the effect of any 
associated hedges as at 31 December 2019 for the effect of 
assumed changes in interest rates. The sensitivity of equity is 
analysed by maturity of the asset or swap. All the banking book 
exposures are monitored and analysed in currency concentrations 
and relevant sensitivities are disclosed in AED thousands.
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2019  Sensitivity Sensitivity
Currency Increase in basis of interest income of equity
   
AED +200 38,072    38,072   
USD +200 (44,483)    (44,483)   
Others +200 (1,959)    (1,959)   
   
AED -200 (38,072)    (38,072)   
USD -200 44,483    44,483   
Others -200 1,959    1,959   
   
2018  Sensitivity Sensitivity
Currency Increase in basis of interest income of equity
   
AED +200 68,761 68,761
USD +200 (37,748) (37,748)
Others +200 (2,027) (2,027)
   
AED -200 (68,761) (68,761)
USD -200 37,748 37,748
Others -200 2,027 2,027

ii) Currency risk
Currency risk represents the risk of change in the value of 
financial instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
The Board has set limits on positions by currencies, which are 
monitored daily, and hedging instruments are also used to 
ensure that positions are maintained within the limits. 

The Group’s assets are typically funded in the same currency 
as that of the business transacted in order to eliminate foreign 
exchange exposure. However, in the normal course of business 
the Group provides foreign currency exposures to finance its 
client’s activities. The Executive Committee sets the limits on the 
level of exposure by currency for both overnight and intra-day 
positions, which are closely monitored by Senior Management. 
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s net currency position was 
not material, and all the positions were within limits approved 
by the Executive Committee. 

As the UAE Dirham and other GCC currencies are currently 
pegged to the US Dollar, balances in US Dollars are not 
considered to represent significant currency risk.

The table below shows the foreign currencies to which the Group 
has a significant exposure to:

The analysis below calculates the effect of a possible movement 
of the currency rate against AED, with all other variables held 
constant, on the consolidated statement of profit or loss (due 
to the fair value of the currency sensitive non-trading monetary 
assets and liabilities) and equity (due to change in fair value of 
currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts used as 
cash flow hedges). A positive effect shows a potential increase 
in consolidated statement of profit or loss or equity; whereas a 
negative effect shows a potential net reduction in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss or equity.

 2019 2018 
 AED’000 AED’000
 equivalent equivalent 
 long (short) long (short)

Euro 25,222 689

      Currency   
exposure as at Change in  
 31 December currency Change on Change on
         2019 rate in % net profit Equity

         EUR +5% 1,261 1,261
         EUR -5% (1,261) (1,261)

     Currency   
exposure as at Change in  
 31 December currency Change on Change on
         2018 rate in % net profit Equity

         EUR +5% 34 34
         EUR -5% (34) (34)

AED’000

AED’000
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iii) Equity price risk 
Equity price risk refers to the risk of a decrease in the fair value of equities in the Group’s non-trading investment portfolio as a 
result of reasonable possible changes in levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks.

The effect on the Group’s quoted equity investments held as financial assets at FVTOCI due to reasonable possible change in 
equity prices, with all other variables held constant is as follows:

Market  Change in Effect on Change in  Effect on
indices equity price equity equity price equity
 % AED’000 % AED’000

Global Stock markets +1% 1,272 +1% 1,600
Global Stock markets -1% (1,272) -1% (1,600)

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from system failure, 
human error, fraud, or external events. When controls fail to 
perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, and 
may have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial 
losses. The Group would not be able to eliminate all operational 
risks, but through a control framework and by monitoring and 
responding to potential risks, the Group could minimise the 
risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, 
authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and 
assessment processes, including the use of internal audit.

39. CAPITAL ADEQUACY AND  
 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT PROCESS 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is 
a broader concept than the ‘equity’ in the consolidated 
statement of financial positions, are:

 To comply with the capital requirements set by the  
 Central Bank of United Arab Emirates;
 To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going  

 concern and increase the returns for the shareholders; and
 To maintain a strong capital base to support the  

 development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored 
on a regular basis by the Group’s management, employing 
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel 
Committee and the Central Bank of United Arab Emirates. The 
required information is filed with the authority on a quarterly basis.

The Group assets are risk weighted as to their relative credit, 
market, and operational risk. Credit risk includes both on and off-
balance sheet risks. Market risk is defined as the risk of losses 
in on and off-balance sheet positions arising from movements 
in market prices and includes profit rate risk, foreign exchange 
risk, equity exposure risk, and commodity risk. Operational risk 

is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed 
internal processes, people or systems, or from external events. 

The Group’s regulatory capital is analysed into two Tiers:

• Common equity Tier 1 (CET 1) capital, which includes 
ordinary share capital, legal reserve, general reserve and 
retained earnings; fair value reserves, after deductions for 
intangibles, and other regulatory adjustments relating to 
items that are included in equity but are treated differently 
for capital adequacy purposes under “CBUAE” guidelines. 

• Tier 2 capital comprises of collective provision which shall 
not exceed 1.25% of total credit risk weighted assets. 

The following limits have been applied for Tier 2 capital:

 Total Tier 2 capital shall not exceed 67% of Tier 1 capital;
 Subordinated liabilities shall not exceed 50% of total Tier 1  

 capital; and
 Collective provision shall not exceed 1.25% of total credit  

 risk weighted assets. 

The minimum capital adequacy requirements as set out by the 
Central Bank are as follows:

 Minimum common equity Tier 1 (CET 1) ratio of 7%  
 of risk weighted assets (RWAs).
 Minimum Tier 1 ratio of 8.5% of RWAs.
 Total capital adequacy ratio of 10.5% of RWAs.

In addition to CET 1 ratio of 7% of RWAs, a capital conservation 
buffer (CCB) of 2.5% of RWAs shall be maintained in the form 
of CET 1.
       
Further, counter cyclical buffer (CCyB) requirement shall be met 
by using CET 1. The level of CCyB to be notified by 'the Central 
Bank'. There is no CCyB requirement during the current period.
       
The Group has complied with all the externally imposed  
capital requirements.  
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BASEL III
The capital adequacy ratio is computed based on circulars issued by the U.A.E. Central Bank:
 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
 AED’000 AED’000
 (audited) (audited)

Capital base  

Common Equity Tier 1 2,920,581 3,312,548
Additional Tier 1 capital - -
  
Tier 1 capital 2,920,581 3,312,548
Tier 2 capital 329,871 294,292
  
Total capital base 3,250,452 3,606,840
  
Risk-weighted assets:  

Credit risk 26,389,680 23,543,342
Market risk  360,838 288,487
Operational risk 1,290,982 1,414,857
  
Total risk-weighted assets 28,041,500 25,246,686
 ========= =========

Capital ratios   
Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio 10.42% 13.12%
Tier 1 capital ratio 10.42% 13.12%
Total capital ratio 11.59% 14.29%
 ========= =========

40. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Investments held at fair value through profit and loss 
Investments held for trading or designated at fair value through 
profit and loss represent investment securities that present 
the Group with opportunity for returns through dividend 
income, trading gains and capital appreciation. Including in these 
investment listed equity securities for which the fair values are 
based on quoted prices at close of business as of 31 December 
2019, and unlisted bonds for which the fair values are derived 
from internal valuation performed based on generally accepted 
pricing models, all inputs used for the valuation are supposed by 
observable market prices or rates.

Unquoted investments held at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 
The consolidated financial statements include holdings in 
unquoted securities amounting to AED 209 million (2018: 

AED 323 million) which are measured at fair value. Fair values 
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing 
models based on comparable ratios backed by discounted 
cash flow analysis depending on the investment and industry. 
The valuation model includes some assumptions that are not 
supported by observable market prices or rates. 

For investments valued using comparable ratios, share prices 
of comparable companies represent significant inputs to the 
valuation model. If the share prices of the comparable companies 
were 5% higher/lower while all other variables were held 
constant, then the fair value of the securities would increase/
decrease by AED 11 million (2018: AED 16 million).

The impact of the change in fair valuation from previously 
existing carrying amounts have been recognised as a part of 
cumulative changes in fair value in equity.
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Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost 
Except as detailed in the following table, the management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 
liabilities measured at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured at fair value. They are banked into levels 1 to 3 
based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities.

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices, including over-the-
counter quoted prices).

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability 
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The fair value for other financial assets measured at amortised cost is based on market prices.

  Carrying Fair Carrying  Fair
  amount value amount value
 Level AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Financial assets     
Other financial assets
measured at amortised cost 3 452,219 400,749 671,554 663,231
  ========= ========= ========= =========
Loans and advances 3 17,735,756 17,735,756 17,301,105 17,301,105
  ========= ========= ========= =========

Financial liabilities     
Customers’ deposits 2 21,326,234 21,326,234 20,119,169 20,119,169
  ========= ========= ========= =========
Issued Bonds 2 3,024,000 3,019,861 - -
  ========= ========= ========= =========

2019 2018
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 Level  1 Level  2 Level  3 Total
At 31 December 2019 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
    
Other financial assets measured at fair value
Investment measured at FVTPL
Quoted equity 159,284 - - 159,284

    
Investments measured at FVTOCI    
Quoted equity 127,183 - - 127,183
Unquoted equity - - 209,252 209,252
Unquoted debt securities - 123,759 - 123,759
    
Total 286,467 123,759 209,252 619,478
 ========= ========= ========= ========
    
Other financial liabilities measured at fair value    
Issued bonds measured at FVTPL    
Quoted debt securities 2,578,066 - - 2,578,066
 ========= ========= ========= ========
    
Other assets /liabilities    
Positive fair value of derivatives - 20,400 - 20,400
Negative fair value of derivatives - (7,577) - (7,577)
 ========= ========= ========= =========

    
At 31 December 2018    
    
Other financial assets measured at fair value
Investment measured at FVTPL
Quoted equity 143,446 - - 143,446

    
Investments measured at FVTOCI    
Quoted equity 160,069 - - 160,069
Unquoted equity - - 323,239 323,239
Unquoted debt securities - 190,565 - 190,565
    
Total 303,515 190,565 323,239 817,319
 ========= ========= ========= ========
    
Other financial liabilities measured at fair value    
Issued bonds measured at FVTPL    
Quoted debt securities 3,589,972 - - 3,589,972
 ========= ========= ========= ========
    
Other assets /liabilities    
Positive fair value of derivatives - 3,590 - 3,590
Negative fair value of derivatives - (62,808) - (62,808)
 ========= ========= ========= =========

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the current year.
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Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of other financial assets measured at FVTOCI

 2019 2018
 AED’000 AED’000

Opening balance 323,239 564,417
Losses recognised in other comprehensive income (113,987) (241,178)
  
Closing balance 209,252 323,239
 ========= =========

UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS USED IN MEASURING  
FAIR VALUE

The effect of unobservable input on fair value measurement 
Although the Group believes that its estimates of fair value are 
appropriate, the use of different methodologies or assumptions 
could lead to different measurements of fair value. For fair value 
measurements in Level 3, 10% change in the underlying value 
of these investments would have the following effects. 

Impact on fair value of level 3 financial instruments 
measured at fair value of changes to key assumptions 
The impact on the fair value of level 3 instruments of using 
reasonably possible alternative assumptions by class of 
instrument is negligible.
 
Financial Instruments not recorded at fair value
The fair values of financial instruments not recorded at fair value 
includes cash and balances with Central Banks, due from banks 
and financial institutions, loans and advances, net, other assets 
(excluding prepayments), due to banks, customers’ deposits and 
other liabilities that are categorised as level two based on market 
observable inputs. The fair values of financial instruments 
not recorded at fair value are not materially different to their 
carrying values.

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used 
to determine fair values for those financial instruments which 
are not already recorded at fair value in the financial statements:

Asset for which fair value approximates carrying value
For financial assets and financial liabilities that have short 

31 December 2018 Favorable Unfavorable
 +32,324 -32,324

31 December 2019 Favorable Unfavorable
 +20,925 -20,925

Effect on OCI

Effect on OCI

term maturity (less than three months) it is assumed that 
the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This 
assumption is also applied to demand deposits and savings 
accounts without specific maturity.
 
Fixed rate financial instruments
The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried 
at amortised cost are estimated by comparing market interest 
rates when they were first recognised with current market 
rates for similar financial instruments. The estimated fair 
value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted 
cash flows using prevailing money market interest rates for 
debts with similar credit and maturity. For other variable rate 
instruments an adjustment is also made to reflect the change in 
required credit spread since the instrument was first recognised.

41. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified where 
appropriate to conform with the presentation in these 
consolidated financial statements.

42. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

The existence of novel coronavirus (Covid-19) was confirmed in 
early 2020 and has spread across the globe causing disruptions 
to businesses and economic activity. The Group considers this 
outbreak to be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event. As 
the situation is fluid and rapidly evolving, we do not consider it 
practicable to provide a quantitative estimate of the potential 
impact of this outbreak on the Group. The impact of this outbreak 
on the macroeconomic forecasts will be incorporated into the 
Group’s IFRS 9 estimates of expected credit loss provisions and 
deferred tax estimates of temporary differences in 2020.

43. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED  
 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the 
Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 8 July 2020.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION STRUCTURE – ASSETS
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EVOLUTION OF SHARE CAPITAL, TOTAL EQUITY & NET PROFIT 

5,000 800

600

400

200

-200

-400

0

-600

4,500

4,000

3,500

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

A
ED

 IN
 M

IL
LI

O
N

S

309
402

213

265

130
206

3

-488

-155

250

 Share Capital     Total Equity          Net Profit / (Loss)            Total Comprehensive Income / (Loss)

0 -800

-635

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

A
ED

 IN
 M

IL
LI

O
N

S

 BOS

 ELB82%

18%

80%
88%

57%
43%12%

20%

30,000

25,000

20,000

15,000

10,000

5,000

0
Total Assets Customers' Deposits Loans and Advances Net Liquidity



116

9. Graphs

EVOLUTION OF LOANS AND ADVANCES AND CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS
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BREAKDOWN OF LOANS AND ADVANCES BY ECONOMIC SECTOR
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE
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SHARE OWNERSHIP BY PERCENTAGE AS AT DECEMBER 2019

SHAREHOLDERS BY NATIONALITY & % OF HOLDING AS AT DECEMBER 2019
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SHAREHOLDERS BY EMIRATE
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